

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

Grandparent Support and Juvenile Delinquent Youth

Anita Marie Taboh Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Criminology Commons, and the Criminology and Criminal Justice Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Anita Taboh

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Scott Hershberger, Committee Chairperson, Human Services Faculty Dr. Pamela Denning, Committee Member, Human Services Faculty Dr. James Castleberry, University Reviewer, Human Services Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2016

Grandparent Support and Juvenile Delinquent Youth Anita Marie Taboh

MA, State University of New York, 1995 BS, King's College, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human Services

Walden University

May 2015

Abstract

Juvenile delinquency is a social issue which has been shown to have a significant cost to society in a variety of ways which include community safety, the cost of arrest, charges, and court processes, as well as the damage done in families and to the youth through the label of juvenile delinquent or Person in Need of Supervision (PINs). One important area in treatment and discharge planning for youth designated as either juvenile delinquent or Persons in Need of Supervision is the inclusion of supports to help youth change the trajectory from these behaviors into more socially acceptable activities and actions. The research problem addressed in this study is that the supports utilized at this time are insufficient and ineffective, as evidenced by rates of recidivism. The purpose of this study was to explore whether the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning as a support system is of value to the youth and their parents. Using a grounded theory methodology, professional staff from Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC) programs, now known as Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO), which work with these youths and their families and was developed based on social learning theory, participated in interviews to obtain data regarding the use of non-custodial grandparents and whether they were found to be of value. The results of the study support the use of grandparents under specific conditions, such as when they have positive relationships with parents and when they are positive role models themselves. NVivo 11 software was used to assist in the process of analyzing the data collected from these professionals. The implications for social change remain that the process of assisting youth to make these changes could create safer communities with lower crime rates, and decreases in the costs associated with the legal process, and these savings can then be passed on to communities and to the taxpayer.

Grandparent Support and Juvenile Delinquent Youth

by

Anita Marie Taboh

MA, State University of New York, 1995 BS, King's College, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human Services

Walden University

May 2016

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my family, my daughter Tamara, my granddaughter Victoria, and my grandson, Robert. Without their love, support, and most importantly, their belief in me, this would not have become a reality. They made sure I had time, space, and quiet in which to do the work that this required. For that, and so much more, I am grateful and blessed to have them.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank my committee chair, Dr. Scott Hershberger, for being so supportive and helpful during this process. I was very blessed to have him as my chair. I also want to thank Dr. Denning, my committee member and content expert. Every change she asked me for made my study so much richer, and much more professional in terms of writing. Thank you both for all your help.

Table of Contents

List of Tables.	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Study	1
Current Predictors of Juvenile Delinquency	3
Background of the Problem	6
Problem Statement	8
Purpose of the Study	10
Research Questions	10
Theoretical Framework	11
Conceptual Framework	12
Nature of the Study	13
Definitions of Key Terms	13
Assumptions	15
Scopes and Delimitations	16
Limitations	17
Significance of the Study	17
Summary	18
Chapter 2: Literature Review	20
Overview	20
Literary Search Strategy	21
Theoretical Foundation	23
Grounded Theory	26
Literature and Research Based Analysis	26

Literature Review	27
Synthesizing Perspectives in the Literature	34
Summary and Conclusions	37
Chapter 3: Research Method	39
Introduction	39
Research Questions	40
Central Concepts	40
The Role of the Researcher	41
Methodology	42
Issues of Trustworthiness	44
Ethical Concerns	44
Summary	45
Chapter 4: Presentation of Results	47
Research Questions.	47
Setting	48
Demographics	48
Interviews	49
Data Analysis	50
Trustworthiness	55
Results	55
Summary	58
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	60
Introduction	60
Interpretation of Findings.	61
Discussion	62

Limitations	65
Recommendations	65
Implications	66
Conclusions.	66
References	68
Appendix A: Level of Coding.	80
Appendix B: IRB Consent to Collect Data.	81
Appendix C: Letters to Program Supervisors	82
Appendix D: Interview Questions	84
Appendix E: Letter of Cooperation from Community Partners	85

List of Tables

Research Questions and Themes.	48
Demographics of Sample Participants	50

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Background of the Study

Studying juvenile delinquency is important from a number of perspectives. One is the cost to society of the criminal behavior, another is the difficulty of treating delinquent behavior, and then of course, there is the issue of safety in communities (Shaw, Hyde, & Brennan, 2012). Juvenile delinquency is defined by the government as the act of any person under 18 years old who violates United States laws that would have been defined as a crime if that person was an adult (Criminal Resource Manual 38, 1998). In other words, juvenile delinquency includes only those crimes that, if the youth were over 18 would be considered a criminal offense and therefore, prosecutable as an adult. This does not include status offenses that would be an offense only if the person was under 18 years old. The National Institute of Justice Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (2014) cited five theoretical perspectives that predict offending: static theories, dynamic or life-course developmental models, social psychological theories, the developmental psycho-pathological perspective, and the bio-psychosocial perspective. Each of these theories were developed to explain the transition to criminal behavior in a different manner. The overall finding was that individuals who begin their criminal careers during childhood or adolescence may escalate, continue offending, and increase these criminal activities into very serious deviant behaviors, or the propensity for criminal involvement diminishes and the individual ceases these activities (National Institute of Justice Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, 2014).

Until the 1700's, children were seen as non-persons (Rice, 1995). During the period known as "The Enlightenment" in the 18th century, toward the end of the 1700's, children began

to be perceived differently, as individuals who needed nurturing in order to thrive (Rice, 1995). This was referred to as the invention of childhood, and the belief that children needed love and nurturing developed in society in opposition to the idea that they needed constant discipline, which at that time was in the form of beatings and other harsh punishments (Rice, 1995). Delinquency had been an issue throughout known history, although not labeled as such, which was evidenced by the lack of treatment prior to The Enlightenment during which children as young as seven years old were tried, convicted, and punished as adults in Britain (Rice, 1995). As far back as the civilizations of ancient Sumeria and Hammurabi, juvenile crime was referred to and the first laws concerning juvenile offenders were put into written form (Rice, 1995).

Currently, statistics gathered in 2013 indicated that approximately 9.8% of homicides were committed by adolescents annually (Zagar, Grove, & Busch, 2013). In 2014, the number of homicides by juveniles had dropped to 7% (OJJDP Statistical Briefing Book, 2016). Other concerns for the nation included the increasing numbers of prisoners requiring incarceration, as well as parolees and probationers requiring supervision (Zagar, et al., 2013). At that time, the costs of incarcerated and supervised individuals, juveniles and adults, was approximately \$30 million annually, and then there is the issue of needing additional jails and prisons, as well as the maintenance of current facilities (Zagar et al., 2013).

Current Predictors of Juvenile Delinquency

There are numerous theories on the causes of juvenile delinquency. Family is considered to be the primary socialization institution for youth, and is therefore considered a principal predictor of delinquency (Gault-Sherman, 2012). An additional predictor of delinquency is the power of the link between peer delinquency and a child's propensity toward delinquent behavior,

which can be dependent on individual factors such as impulsivity (Vitulano, Fite, & Rathert, 2010a). Research has indicated that developmental periods are associated with the development of delinquent behaviors.

Developmental periods have been defined by various researchers, including Erik Erickson (Davis & Clifton, 1995) who explained development through a series of stages during which humans face different crises, such as trust versus mistrust for infants and identity versus identity diffusion for adolescents. Different definitions were provided by Piaget, who discussed genetic epistemology, the study of the development of knowledge (Boeree, 2006). Piaget introduced stages that included the sensorimotor stage of infancy and the formal operations stage of adolescence. Each stage included differing ways in which humans learn, through assimilation or adaptation. More recent research examined biological transformations in both cognitive and physical functioning that has the potential to impact socio-emotional functioning and present challenges to the ability for parents to cope with the child's newfound status as they move from one developmental phase to another (Shaw, Hyde, & Brenna, 2012). Steinberg (2007) posited that it was the temporal gap between puberty and adulthood that impels adolescents to thrill seek, and it was the slow maturation of the cognitive control system, responsible for regulating impulses, that caused this period to be a time of greater vulnerability toward risky behavior.

There has been a lack of data gathered on a national level which reports on rates of recidivism by juvenile delinquents. The reason for this deficiency is due to the inconsistencies between states in the juvenile justice systems (Office of Justice Programs, 2013). For example, states determine the ages under which juvenile courts have jurisdiction (Snyder & Sickmund, 2006). In North Carolina youth as young as 6 years old can be brought into juvenile court for

offenses, where Arkansas, Colorado, Kansas, Louisiana, Minnesota, Mississippi, Pennsylvania, South Dakota, Texas, Vermont, and Wisconsin place the youngest age at 10 years old. (Snyder & Sickmund, 2006). In Alaska, Iowa, Kentucky, Nebraska, Oklahoma, and Tennessee, the oldest a youth can be presided over by juvenile court is 18 years old, where in California, Montana, Oregon, and Wisconsin it can be as old as 24 years, depending on the offense (Snyder & Sickmund, 2006). These statistics represent only one area in which states differ in their treatment of juvenile offenders.

When specifically examining statistics from the year 2008 in New York State alone, findings demonstrated that 49% of those youth deemed to be juvenile delinquents or offenders were arrested at least once within a year of the first conviction, with 66% arrested again in the two years following the first conviction (Office of Children and Family Services, 2011).

Research that has focused on services for juvenile offenders consider the significance of family and community to support behavioral change in delinquent or antisocial actions by youth (Caldwell & Van Rybroek, 2013; Contreras, Molina, & del Carmen Cano, 2011; Hannon & Defina, 2012; Rhoades, Chamberlain, Roberts, & Leve, 2013).

One study that reflected this included a group of adolescents from methamphetamine involved families who were surveyed regarding the identified supports in their lives, and grandparents were most frequently cited as a principal support after the youth's parents (Sheridan, Haight, & Cleeland, 2011). The same study found that the youth that identified having adult resources tested lower in the areas of social problems, externalizing, and aggression when the Child Behavior Check List scales were used (Sheridan, et al., 2011). Despite this example, the topic of grandparent/grandchild relationships not related to custodial issues or the impact of

grandparent as a resource for behavioral change has remained an understudied topic (Dunifon & Bajracharya, 2012).

Treatment and Discharge Planning

Treatment is a common and necessary component to address juvenile delinquency. A quantitative study by Stambaugh, Southerland, Mustillo, and Burns (2010) examined the delinquency correlates of 2,554 youth who presented for community care and indicated that stealing and vandalism are the most common offenses for both early and late adolescents, with early/middle adolescence defined as ages 11 to 15 and late adolescence defined as ages 16 to 18 years (Stambaugh, Southerland, Mustillo, & Burns, 2010). Interventions for these two groups have been found to differ in types and avenues, due to the difference in risk areas across stages (Stambaugh, et al., 2010). Wilson and Tully (2009) performed a literature review and found that there was a correlation between physical and mental health, as well as social, economic, and familial factors, concluding that each adolescent has unique and personal needs. This was a clear indicator that the need for each youth is that they have an individualized plan from day one of identification, and especially upon placement.

Social Supports

Martinez and Abrams (2013) examined 13 qualitative articles and dissertations using a metasynthesis methodology and concluded that informal supports, family, friends, neighborhood social networks, offer valuable benefits for juvenile offenders. Family support was identified as crucial to returning offenders in the form of material support, motivation, and emotional support, and this included extended family members (Martinez & Abrams, 2013). It is important to note,

however, that the potential for these relationships to create pressure and overwhelming expectations that can lead to a return to antisocial behaviors (Martinez & Abrams, 2013).

Grandparent Involvement and Support

Emotional involvement by grandparents has been shown to improve school engagement as well as pro-social behaviors in longitudinal studies (Yorgason, Padilla-Walker, & Jackson, 2011). This may be related to having frequent contact with an adult who is not a member of the immediate, or nuclear, family and therefore can assist in the development of important socio-emotional skills fundamental to pro-social development (Yorgason et al., 2011). At the very least, evidence exists that positive relationships with grandparents can have a helpful impact on grandchildren. Additional research on the impact of these family members for youth designated as juvenile delinquent or offender has the potential to be useful in treatment and discharge planning.

Background of the Problem

Existing literature which examined grandparents as guardians for children when parents were unable to fulfill this responsibility revealed that outcomes for these youth are poor (Bailey, Letiecq, & Porterfield, 2009; Park, 2009; Baker & Mutchler, 2010; Day & Bazemore, 2011). While custodial grandparents have exhibited a dedication to the well-being of their grandchildren, often providing support even when they receive no financial or social support, the evidence indicated that they reported decreased pleasure in life and greater rates of separation from friends (Williams, 2011; Backhouse & Graham, 2012).

A quantitative study that examined the efficacy of a family preservation program in a large metropolitan area of a large southern state found no correlation between the therapy and

other services provided to the family and success in the utilization of extended family as resources for change (Diamond, Morris, & Caudill, 2011). Another study by Calley (2012) indicated that there was no evidence that family involvement was instrumental in behavioral change or reduction of recidivism rates. One needs to note that the need for future research was expressed by both studies in the limitations section. Both studies expressed the need for further study on family support as a means of behavioral change (Diamond, et al., 2011; Calley, 2012).

Different findings suggested grandmothers who took on caregiving roles for grandchildren indicated that the intimacy of the relationship with the grandchild during their childhood related to increased life satisfaction for the grandmother (Goodman, 2012). If the relationship remained close into the teens and adulthood of the youth, the grandmother's mental well-being appeared to improve and behavioral change in grandchild(ren) who had displayed undesirable behaviors related to neglect from parents was promoted (Goodman, 2012). Substantial research around the grandparent-grandchild relationship has been done, but few of the studies adopted delinquency as a variable of the study (Attar-Schwartz, Tan, & Buchanan, 2009; Coall & Hertwig, 2011; Sawchuk & Crow, 2012).

The intent of this study is to begin to fill an existing gap in current research of the value in involving non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge plans to provide support to parents and youth in the process of changing behaviors that have led to, or even possibly will lead to, involvement with the juvenile justice system. Non-custodial grandparents could be prospective supports to both the youth and the parents, decreasing stress and providing alternatives to current efforts. High recidivism rates, as noted in New York State statistics, indicated that these efforts appear to have been ineffectual, creating concern for both families and

for community safety (Office of Justice Programs, 2013). If findings indicate that there is no value in this addition to treatment or discharge plans, there would still be of value by providing programs with this information and subsequently allow them to save time and effort when working to develop support systems. If value is found to exist in the addition of these family members as supports, the potential exists for decreasing both initial juvenile justice involvement and recidivism rates, creating positive social change in the arena of community safety.

Problem Statement

Current practice for behavioral change in treatment and discharge plans for youth involved in, or at-risk for involvement in, the juvenile justice system has been insufficient, as evidenced by the rates of recidivism among adolescents (Office of Children and Family Services, 2011). During development of treatment and discharge plans for youth, informal supports other than the nuclear family have rarely been included, and if they have, extended family sometimes could be excluded in favor of using more established sources such as services and community resources (Barth, Greeson, Zlotnik, & Chintapalli, 2011; Caldwell & Van Rybroek, 2013). Failing to include these supports has been a shortcoming in the planning process.

Supporting Research. Previous research has shown that for many youth, delinquent behaviors are a temporary phase and many youth will age out as they mature (Holman & Zeidenberg, 2010; Massoglia & Uggen, 2010). When the process of aging out is more difficult, evidence has demonstrated that the development of a relationship with a mentor has been of value, along with obtaining employment (Holman & Zeidenberg, 2010). Exposing youth to settings that mirror or are similar to jail and prison provides opportunities for learning additional negative actions, and have been found to be less effective than community and family-based

interventions in changing behaviors (Holman & Zeidenberg, 2010). Other studies have found that the programs that are effective in change are those that facilitate improvements in family functioning and create interventions in the youth's natural environment (Henggeler & Schoenwald, 2011; Childs & Sullivan, 2013).

Numerous studies exist that have shown the necessity of including family and community in the process of behavioral change (Greenwood, 2008; Nellis, 2009; Holman & Zeidenberg, 2010; Henggeler & Schoenwald, 2011). Research specifically on the subject of nonresidential grandparents and the influence they had on grandchildren indicated that emotional involvement by grandparents was positively linked to both school engagement and prosocial behavior (Yorgason Padilla-Walker, & Jackson, 2011). Another study on involvement of grandparents and well-being of grandchildren revealed that youth who were close to their grandparents verbalized feeling more comfortable going to them when things were difficult or during a crisis, and that grandparents were extra supports when needed (Griggs, Tan, Buchanan, Attar-Schwartz, & Flouri, 2010a).

Current research showed, as in the studies discussed above, that the relationship between a grandparent and grandchild can have a positive impact and meaningful purpose for both parties. The gap that has remained was in knowledge regarding the use of these potential supports as a means of behavioral change for children already involved in the juvenile justice system. There are studies which refer to grandparent-grandchild relationships as associated with positive educational goal achievement and prosocial behavioral choices, however, little is known about the impact on outcomes when grandparents are intentionally included in treatment and discharge plans for youth designated as delinquent.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative grounded theory study was to explore the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for adolescents designated by authority figures to be juvenile delinquents. The literature that exists provided examples of the research that has been done on grandparent/grandchild relationships, with specific focus on whether the relationship is a support, for both the youth and the parent(s).

Research paradigm. Grounded theory methodology seems most appropriate for this study because the use of this methodology makes it possible to study the action/process of including in treatment and discharge plans for juvenile offenders the non-custodial grandparents to determine if this particular support is of value. In the collection and analysis of the data, the study will be able to draw together the findings to explain whether value was found, as evidenced by decreases in antisocial or criminal behaviors and increases in prosocial activities by youth, as reported by the professionals working with the youth and family in the Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care programs in place around the United States.

Research Questions

- 1. What is the value in the grandparent becoming a confidant and problem solver for the youth in an effort to avoid or decrease antisocial or criminal activities?
- 2. What action by the grandparent has the professional determined to provide the most support for parents?
- 3. In what way does the youth's perception of the grandparent affect their ability to be a positive resource?

Theoretical Framework

Social learning theory provided the background for this study. According to Bandura (1971), behaviors are learned through direct experience or the observation of others. Direct experience is influenced to a great extent by rewards and consequences, where observation, the more common way to learn behaviors, tends to teach by example (Bandura, 1971). Akers (1985) supported this contention in his theory on deviant behavior, stating that both deviant and conforming behaviors are learned but the substance and direction of the learning are different. Individuals who display deviant behavior, according to the theory, do so because they have learned to react to the environment and human behaviors in ways that are defined as deviant by others (Akers, 1985). He further posits that violent or very aggressive behaviors are learned, reinforced, and imitated when they observe others, often important others, as obtaining rewards from such behaviors (Akers, 1985). Additional detail as it relates to social learning theory and the role it plays in this grounded theory study will be presented in Chapter 2.

In this study on delinquency and use of non-custodial grandparents as supports, it was necessary to delineate those grandparents who had played a role in the teaching of behaviors, and what type of behaviors they modeled. Grandparents who model behaviors that support antisocial behaviors were clearly not appropriate at sources of support, and therefore, are excluded from the study. Since the research questions are focused on non-custodial grandparents as supports, it was necessary to utilize those grandparents who had demonstrated that they were able to model and teach appropriate and acceptable forms of behavior, as opposed to those who passed on behaviors that can be considered as antisocial or deviant, in direct opposition to the use of these individuals as supports for behavioral change. Supervision by a grandparent who models or teaches deviant

behaviors works against behavioral change and that was contradictory to them as supports for parents invested in helping their child to conform to appropriate and prosocial behaviors.

Conceptual Framework

In this study on the use of non-custodial grandparents as supports for juvenile offenders, social learning theory provided a background for the process of deviant behaviors already learned by the youth. This study looked at whether providing youth involved in the juvenile justice system with a specific support, the grandparent(s), would assist in the process of change from antisocial or criminal behaviors to more socially acceptable ones. As noted in the research questions, the information that was sought from professionals working with youth in the Treatment Foster Care (TFCO) programs was whether or not value in including these individuals in the treatment and discharge plans for these adolescents was found, and if it was, in what way did they provide the most support; was it by being a resource for the parent in providing supervision, or was being a confidant and mentor the most effective use of these individuals? Although looking at the data through the lens of social learning theory, it was necessary to understand that there was data that did not fit within this framework. Since a conceptual framework in a qualitative study provides an informational approach to social experience, it can be developed and structured through the activity of analysis (Jabareen, 2009).

This means that the data must be analyzed, utilizing a qualitative software package as well as hand coding, with the understanding that important information could be found that did not fit neatly with social learning theory but had value nonetheless. Chapter 2 provides a more concise analysis of the information already gathered around the subject of grandparent/grandchild

relationships, with references to grandparents as supports and a review of research which conflicts with the idea that these individuals play a role in the lives of their grandchildren.

Nature of the Study

This study used a qualitative grounded theory approach to obtain and analyze data as it related to the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for juvenile offenders. Utilizing this methodology provided not only structure on the process, but the opportunity to analyze the action/process of intentional inclusion of these individuals as supports in behavioral change. Purposeful sampling was used through the interview and survey processes with program supervisors and therapists in programs across the country using the Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO) programs contracted through the Oregon Social Learning Center in Oregon, which developed and marketed this program. TFCO is based on social learning theory and works with youth deemed juvenile delinquent or Persons In Need of Supervision (PINS) that require out of home placement (TFC Consultants, Inc., 2013). The program is used as an alternative to residential placement and is provided in specifically licensed and trained foster homes (TFC Consultants, Inc., 2013).

Qualitative studies are deductive in nature, and the use of grounded theory allows for an opportunity to build theory on the results of the data collection and analysis. A qualitative software program, NVivo 11, was used for analysis of data, as well as hand coding.

Definitions of Key Terms

For the purposes of this study, the following definitions were used:

Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO): a program used in several countries, developed and marketed by the Oregon Social Learning Center, which works with youth designated by juvenile justice or family courts to be in need of placement away from home.

Value: Value is defined as actions which successfully promote behavioral change as indicated by successful promotion through the program to the point of graduation and reunification with family.

Juvenile Delinquents or Offenders or Persons In Need of Supervision: Juvenile delinquents or offenders or Persons In Need of Supervision was defined in this study as adolescents between 12 and 17 years of age who had been identified by the juvenile justice system as participating in actions which led to involvement by police, family court, or the Persons in Need of Supervision diversion or formal processes. Juvenile delinquency was defined by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (n.d.) as an act that, if committed by an adult, could be prosecuted in criminal court. Persons In Need of Supervision, or PINS, are defined by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (n.d.) as those acts that are considered to be illegal for underage persons but not for adults, i.e., truancy or curfew violation.

Non-Custodial Grandparents: For the purposes of this study, non-custodial grandparents were defined as grandparents not legally responsible for children who are included in the study. Non-custodial grandparents are defined in most, if not many, states as those that have no legal obligation or rights to interaction with the grandchild (McElroy, 2004).

Program Supervisors: Program supervisors are those individuals who are responsible for all aspects of the TFCO programs, from supervision of staff, assessment and intake of prospective clients, treatment and discharge planning, to hiring of staff and observing sessions between

family, client, and therapists as well as ongoing observation of data collection and a 24 hour oncall system (TFC Consultants, Inc., 2013).

Therapists: Therapists include both family and individual therapists who work with either (but never both) the family or the individual client. Family therapists work primarily on assisting the parent(s) to learn the model of reward and consequences; individual therapists work with the youth to provide them with both an advocate in the process and someone to work through any issues necessary that would aid in the process of behavioral change (TFC Consultants, Inc., 2013). Licensing requirements differ in different jurisdictions, so the requirements of the TFC Consultants, Inc. for the TFCO programs does not require specific education levels for TFCO staff, but the county or state that oversees the agency usually sets the requirements, (G. Bouwman, personal communication, August 11, 2014). According to G. Bouwman, the President of TFC Consultants, Inc., part of the oversight and marketing agency which developed, marketed, and certifies the TFCO programs worldwide, the criteria for the different roles within an TFCO program are that the program supervisor is a Masters level clinician with several years of experience. This individual must be the most senior clinician on the team. The two therapists must also be Masters level, but can be early in their career.

Assumptions

- 1. The information gathered in this qualitative study was accurate and current.
- The program supervisors and therapists participating in this study provided accurate information honestly, without reservation, and within the scope of their experience.

Given the use of third parties as a means of gathering data on a protected population, it is necessary to make assumptions about the efficacy and trustworthiness of the information provided.

Scope and Delimitations

In this study, the relationship with a non-custodial grandparent was explored to determine if these relationships had value in helping grandchildren with behavioral problems make changes toward more socially acceptable actions. Juvenile offenders were chosen for this study because it is this segment of the juvenile population that has demonstrated the need for support and assistance beyond the normal nuclear family dynamic in order to make the necessary changes to become happy, functioning members of society. Non-custodial grandparents were chosen to provide the support because family supports have demonstrated the most efficacy in promoting behavioral change, as indicated by the Program Supervisors and Individual and Family Therapists in the Treatment Foster Care Oregon program.

Youth of both genders between the ages of 12 and 17 were the focus of the population because it is these adolescents who are eligible for admission to the Treatment Foster Care (TFCO) program. Use of the TFCO programs was due to the convenience and time management advantages that existed. Issues of researcher bias and efforts to address these issues were focused on in the next section. Youth with no living grandparents were excluded from this study because there was no need for a comparison group in this particular research. Further studies on the use of other non-professional supports would be advantageous, and can be addressed in later research. In this study, the interactions which take place between researcher and subjects was limited to

professionals and not clients, therefore, transferability was addressed by a lack of involvement with clients.

Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. Data collection was limited to a specific program (TFCO), albeit one which is contracted by different agencies in different states with different regulations regarding treatment and discharge planning. It was limited to a specific evidence-based model, one which was developed with social learning theory as the framework. Data was collected from professionals who worked with the youth and their families, as opposed to collecting data directly from the clientele. Additionally, I was the Program Supervisor of a TFCO program at a local child and family services agency for two periods of time, being the first supervisor to bring the program to the Capital District in Upstate New York. This bias was addressed by my having the transcripts of the interviews professionally typed, allowing me to assure the answers were those of the interviewee, and not my own interpretation.

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study was in the exploration of the potential value in utilizing non-custodial grandparents in the process of decreasing antisocial behaviors among identified juvenile delinquents and offenders. Supports for the juvenile offender that are not professional have been limited in the past, and non-custodial grandparents could be prospective supports to both the youth and the parents, decreasing stress and providing alternatives to current efforts. High recidivism rates as noted in New York State statistics suggest that these efforts appear to have been ineffectual, creating concern for families as well as for community safety (Office of Justice Programs, 2013). The potential for findings to indicate that there is no value in this

addition to treatment or discharge plans was considered, and found that there would still value in the study by providing programs with this information and subsequently allow them to save time and effort when working to develop support systems. If there the value exists in the addition of these family members as supports, the potential for decreasing initial juvenile justice involvement and recidivism rates would be helpful.

Discovering ways to add supports and enhance behavioral change could assist in decreasing juvenile crime and promote contributing adults to the greater society population. Families who do not have to continuously deal with the issues related to youth who exhibit antisocial behaviors would be less stressed and more functional in their communities. The costs of juvenile detention, supervision, and courts could be decreased in these communities. Finally, this would aid in creating positive social change in the arena of community safety, an area which impacts all of our communities.

Summary

Chapter 1 provided a background on issues involved in juvenile delinquency in the United States. It addressed the gap involved in providing youth with non-professional supports in treatment and discharge planning. The purpose of the study was discussed, as well as the research questions to be explored in the execution of the study. The theoretical and conceptual frameworks were explained, and the nature of the study was described. Definitions of terms was provided, and the assumptions inherent in the design were identified. Chapter 1 also discusses the scope and delimitations involved, the limitations of the study, and the significance of performing the research.

Chapter 2 examined the current literature on juvenile delinquency, focusing on family involvement and the process of treatment and discharge planning. Evidence-based programming was explored to establish whether the structure utilized exhibited efficacy in programming. A qualitative perspective was used to understand the life experiences of sample participants as they work with the youth in the TFCO programs.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Overview

Juvenile delinquency has been widely studied, and the causes of this deviation from accepted behavioral norms has been attributed to a number of factors (Vitulano, Fite, & Rathert, 2010b; Rees & Pogarsky, 2011a; Turner & Macdonald, 2011 Henggeler & Sheidow, 2012). Treatment and discharge planning for these youth has not led to successful outcomes historically, and the process of adding in supports to help adolescents make behavioral changes remains a difficult and tricky process (Nellis, 2009; Ramchand, Morral, & Becker, 2009). The purpose of this study was to explore whether including non-custodial grandparents in planning could be an effective means of providing youth with support persons that they will turn to when making choices about their actions.

In researching the literature for this study, the most evident issues that were found were that grandparent/grandchild relationships have not been examined in the context of the issue of grandchild delinquent behavior and grandparent support for behavioral change. I utilized Academic Search Complete, Proquest Central, and Google Scholar, as well as websites for Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO), to find information related to these topics. Using the website for TFCO led to articles that I was able to confirm came from scholarly journals. The other three databases contain access to multiple databases that provide articles that are peer reviewed.

The intent of the literature review was twofold: to confirm that there was a gap in the literature regarding whether value existed in the use of noncustodial grandparents as resources for

behavioral change in juveniles, and to review and analyze the research on the subject. The literature review was instrumental in the development of interview questions.

This chapter was divided into several sections. The literature search strategy showed the terminology used to find information, the theoretical foundation of social learning theory, along with the major propositions of the theory, and the framework of grounded theory, along with the reason for the use of this framework. Those terms that have * at the end of a portion of the word indicated a search strategy that allows the researcher to put in part of a word and the library searched based on the different possible endings, i.e., delinquen* to indicate delinquency, delinquent, delinquents, as search terms. A comprehensive literature review and synthesis have been provided.

Literary Search Strategy

Conducting the literature search for this study, the researcher used the following databases in the Walden library:

- Academic Search Complete
- ProQuest Central
- o Google Scholar.
- o In addition, sources outside of the library were used that utilized specifically had scholarly journal resources.
- Governmental websites

Search terms included the following:

- o placement
- foster care

evidence-based programs delinquency 0 youth adolescent teen 0 parents bonding attachment household relationships grandparents grandchildren 0 mentor programs non-relative relationships grandparent* household delinquen* 0 services support program For the purposes of theory, the following terms were used:

grounded theory

- o social learning theory
- labeling

In both ProQuest Central and Academic Search Complete, the terms bonding or attachment and parent were searched, delinquency was added and a further search performed. In Google Scholar, evidence-based, program, grandparent, support, change, and behavior* were used to find additional information on the nationwide dissemination of these programs, and material on predictors of use of evidence-based programs and barriers to use of these programs. Grandparent, change, and support were additional terms utilized in the Google Scholar database. The use of governmental databases was confined to statistics and numbers as support to the need for additional research and on how the numbers collected or missing were identified. Outside sources of websites for evidence-based programming included publications which were verified by the journals in which these studies were published; inclusion was only done if they were scholarly journals that could be confirmed as such.

Theoretical Foundation

For the purpose of this study, social learning theory was the foundation, while grounded theory was the framework in which the data gathered and analyzed provided an opportunity for the development of new theory regarding supports for juvenile delinquents. Social learning theory was developed by Albert Bandura (1971) and discusses the various ways that behavior is learned. Social learning theory suggests that behavior is obtained in different manners, such as being learned through the observation and imitation of significant others (Bandura, 1971). Behavior can also be learned by direct experience, which is most highly influenced by either the reward or punishment the behavior afforded (Bandura, 1971). In either type of learning, the

perception of reward or gain, what the individual gets from the behavior learned or what they lose by exhibiting the behavior, plays a role in whether the behavior is repeated, and when learned through observation, imitated (Bandura, 1971).

Ronald L Akers (1985) examined deviant behavior according to a social learning perspective, based on the differential association theory of Edwin H. Sutherland, with some modifications of his concepts. Akers (1985) concurred with Bandura's (1971) concepts that behavior is learned through either instrumental or operant conditioning, where instrumental conditioning is the process of reinforcement or punishment of a behavior, and operant conditioning, the process of learning and reinforcement of that which is learned (Akers, 1985). Both researchers discussed the use of negative or deviant behaviors to obtain desired responses when other actions have been unsuccessful (Bandura, 1971; Akers 1985).

Major propositions of social learning theory. Bandura (1971) discussed various types of reinforcement of learned behavior in social learning theory. Informative reinforcement bases learning on both observation of behavior and on the consequences of the action, leading to decision making about what type of behavior would be successful to meet their ends.

Motivational reinforcement bases decision making about actions on what the perceived outcome would be according to prior experiences; and cognitive mediation posits that decisions are made according to the value placed on the outcome the response elicits.

Akers and Burgess (1985) took Sutherland and Cressey's (as cited by Akers, 1971) nine statements on differential association theory and modified them to seven they believed to be more consistent with the principles of modern behavior. These became:

1. Deviant behavior is learned according to the principals of operant conditioning.

- Deviant behavior is learned both in nonsocial situations that are reinforcing or discriminating and through that social interaction in which the behavior of other persons is reinforcing or discriminating for such behavior.
- 3. The principal part of the learning of deviant behavior occurs in those groups which comprise or control the individual's major source of reinforcements.
- 4. The learning of deviant behavior, including specific techniques, attitudes, and avoidance procedures, is a function of the effective and available reinforcers and the existing reinforcement contingencies.
- 5. The specific class of behavior learned, and its frequency of occurrence are a function of the effective and available reinforcers, and the deviant or non-deviant direction of the norms, rules, and definitions which in the past have accompanied the reinforcement.
- 6. The probability that a person will commit deviant behavior is increased in the presence of normative statements, definitions, and verbalizations, which, in the process of differential reinforcement of such behavior over conforming behavior, have acquired discriminative value.
- 7. The strength of deviant behavior is a direct function of the amount, frequency, and probability of its reinforcement. The modalities of association with deviant patterns are important insofar as they affect the source, amount, and scheduling of reinforcement. (Akers, 1971, p.41).

The use of social learning theory as a basis for this study related directly to the concept that if behaviors are learned, and deviance is a behavior and can thus be reinforced in the same

way as any other behavior, then the use of appropriate supports may help to change the youth's trajectory toward more acceptable choices and actions.

Grounded Theory

Grounded theory is a research approach which uses a systematic process to build theory through data collection and analysis (Engward, 2013). Barney G. Glaser (1998) formulated grounded theory in 1967 while writing a book on the topic of awareness of dying. It is a cohesive set of conceptual hypotheses, rather than findings (Glaser, 1998). It is through the process of constant coding and analyzing of data, modifying as one progresses while being completely honest about the findings in order to not misrepresent them is of supreme importance (Glaser, 1998). Through an inductive approach, which is one where conclusions are based upon the facts gathered by the research, the research allows for the building of theory, as stated above (Engward, 2013).

Literature and Research Based Analysis

Social learning theory is the model which guides Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO, 2014). The model maintains that it is the daily interactions between family members which influence and shape prosocial and antisocial patterns of behavior, guiding these behaviors to occur outside the family as well (Treatment Foster Care of Oregon, 2014). Reinforcement of behaviors which are negative by parents, as well as responses to the coercive tactics learned, creates and supports the behaviors considered antisocial and creates risk for the child to develop in the behaviors considered delinquent (Treatment Foster Care Oregon, 2014). A guiding central principle of the use of social learning theory in the program is that intervention development is advised by empirically grounded theory (Leve, Fisher, & Chamberlain, 2009). Of importance

was that the use of social learning theory as a framework along with the use of grounded theory to develop new concepts and theories allowed this research to break new ground in the concept of supports for juveniles. This study was intended to be the beginning of further in-depth explorations of supports which help to change behaviors for youth away for delinquency and antisocial actions.

Alignment of research questions. Social learning theory posits that learning is obtained from important others (Bandura, 1971). Therefore, the question of value in grandparents becoming confidants and problem solvers for youth asks if this action would help youth to learn from these important others different ways to make choices about activities and actions which are socially acceptable rather than deviant behaviors (Bandura, 1971). Provision of supports to parents will be answered as to whether the grandparents were a helpful resource or if they got in the way of what the parents are trying to teach their children. Also addressed was whether they provided a support which helped to reduce the stress of parenting. Using a grounded theory method, the data analysis would help to answer the question of whether the youth's perception of their grandparents predicts the ability of the youth to use them as a positive resource, since this was not an area found in current research with delinquency as a variable. Answering this research question could add to the current research on grandparent/grandchild relationships.

Literature Review

Predictors of Delinquent Behaviors

Peer relationships are an area which have been identified as a predictor for participation in antisocial behaviors, leading to designation of youth as delinquent. One quantitative study, which utilized secondary data from The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health and

identified 6,927 youth between the ages of 12 and 18 years old, examined variables that compared the influence of the best friend against the remaining group of friends (Rees & Pogarsky, 2011b). Findings of the study indicated that the larger the group of friends, the less influence the best friend had, especially when the behavior of the best friend varied from that of the larger group (Rees & Pogarsky, 2011b). Alternatively, McGloin's (2009) quantitative study which used data from the same larger national study and a sample of 2,728 participants from the original research, posited that adolescents were more likely to change their behaviors toward or away from delinquency in reaction to the behaviors and actions of the best friend.

When the impact of peer relationships was considered, research reported that factors existed beyond the relationship that impacted the youth's potential to engage in antisocial behaviors. One study which surveyed 89 youth between the ages of 9 and 12 to identify the link between impulsivity and delinquency found that those children who had higher levels of impulsivity were less influenced by delinquent peers than those with lower levels of impulsivity (Vitulano, Fite, & Rathert, 2010). Youth with greater self-control were found to be less susceptible to the effect of friends behaviors by research which used the Study of Early Child Care and Youth Development performed by the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development using items from the Child Behavior Checklist (Meldrum, Miller, & Flexon, 2013). Another consideration found was that of unstructured time spent with peers, how youth spent their time with friends had an impact on delinquency, both pro- and anti-social (McGloin, 2012).

The act of involving youth in the juvenile justice process, labeling them as delinquent, has the potential to be in itself a precursor to further delinquent behaviors (Henggelaer & Schoenwald, 2011). In a study which contrasted programs that demonstrate efficacy in providing

juvenile justice interventions with those that have not, one finding across the effective programs was that youth who were diverted to community programs demonstrated fewer ongoing delinquent actions than those who were processed within the system (Henggelaer & Schoenwald, 2011). However, as stated by Christopher Slobogin (2011) in his commentary on the article discussing evidence-based interventions written by Henggelaer and Schoenwald (2011), there are at least two reasons that the use of community based interventions has been resisted by policy-makers and the legal system: they did not represent a punishment-oriented disposition, and they allowed the youth who committed the offense to be in the community where they could represent at least the appearance of risk to community safety.

When community-based interventions were not determined to be the appropriate course of action, the use of evidence-based programming showed higher efficacy than the prior mentioned treatment-as-usual formats. Many youth have begun the placement process in foster care, where a lack of understanding of the complicated, multi-faceted needs of youth and their families or caregivers led to multiple, and at times, increasingly restrictive, placements for the child (Turner & Macdonald, 2011). Placement in evidence-based foster care programming has demonstrated the advantage of placing youth in homes where foster parents were specially trained to work with the population, received additional support compared to other foster care programs, and the biological or family of origin were included in the treatment process to learn the skills and actions necessary to support and maintain behavioral change (Henggeler & Sheidow, 2012).

It has become clear that the causes of delinquency are varied; when reviewing the literature, predictors of delinquency have been attributed to many factors beyond that of peer influence, including poverty, neglect, abuse, neighborhood influence, socio-economic status,

labeling, and learned behaviors (Murray & Farrington, 2010; Stambaugh, Southerland, Mustillo, & Burns 2010; Henggelaer & Schoenwald, 2011). As important as it is to address the issues that lead to youth participating in antisocial behaviors, the mere statistics, the numbers, of youth already involved in the juvenile justice system demonstrated the need to find ways to incorporate supports into the lives of these children so that they are able to change these behaviors and lead full, productive, and satisfying lives. This study explores one specific source of support, the use on non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for juvenile delinquent identified youth.

Treatment and Discharge Planning

Treatment and discharge planning for youth in any type of juvenile justice-related level of care is a complex process. Youth are often discharged back into families where abuse, domestic violence, untreated mental health issues, poverty, and drug use are the norm (Nellis, 2009). Research on adolescents discharged from residential programs indicated a need to address family issues and provide interventions for these clients to be able to succeed in academic, family, and behavioral goals (Trout et al., 2010). In an examination of youth seven years after adjudication and placement in group home settings in Los Angeles, researchers found that the outcomes were bleak, with most of the sample continuing to participate in criminal activity, three percent of the sample population had died between ages 15 and 22, and almost half having been incarcerated prior to the assessment at the 87 month post-placement mark (Ramchand et al., 2009). The settings in which these youth were placed included a variety of services, including schooling, family therapy, vocational counseling, and substance abuse education or treatment (Ramchand et al., 2009).

Programming which contains components to address family-related issues and relationships have shown more efficacy than the "treatment as usual" approach, which in and of itself, is difficult to assess because of the limited information available on what type of treatment is included in it, in other words, what "treatment as usual" actually means (Garland, Bickman, & Chorpita, 2010). Research that studied the impact of additional training and consultation for program supervisors and treatment foster parents found that those who were in the group that received these additional services showed more success in outcomes than the control group that did not receive these services (Farmer, Burns, Wagner, Murray, & Southerland, 2010). A public health model of prevention presented by Jeffrey M. Jensen (2010) reported that key protective traits such as supportive adult mentors were lacking in the lives of at-risk children.

The purpose of discussing the additional supports in programs which demonstrated increased efficacy was to show that when these supports were added, there was greater success for the youth involved. Making the short leap to the idea that adding increased supports outside of programming and in the youth's daily life has the potential to assist the child in making and maintaining behavioral change in their daily lives is reasonable. Support for this idea is provided by the research conducted on mentor programs and the effectiveness demonstrated by that addition to the lives of young people (Kolar & McBride, 2011; Haddad, Chen, & Greenberger, 2011; Johnson, Pryce, & Martinovich, 2011; Gordon, Downey, & Bangert, 2013). The additional step that this study addresses was whether the use of non-custodial grandparents are of value or not.

Family Supports

Most treatment planning, including the aforementioned and difficult to define treatment-as-usual, includes family in some manner in the process. What the involvement may be varies according to the type of treatment focus. Several studies over the last decade and a half have suggested that there is no real definition of treatment-as-usual, making it difficult to determine what services, therapeutic frameworks, and interventions are utilized and to what extent they have been effective (Chamberlain & Rosicky, 1995; Santa Ana et al., 2008; Farmer et al., 2010).

Parent/child relationships. Research has shown that when youth have strong bonds to parents, other factors such as high crime or gang-involved neighborhoods can be mitigated by these relationships (Tiet, Huizinga, & Byrnes, 2010). A correlation between a strong bond and increased ease in parental supervision has also been found (Childs, Sullivan, & Gulledge, 2011). Poor bond with parents was been found to be related to increased delinquency in youth (Hoeve et al., 2012). Behaviors by the youth, such as lying, sneaking out, concealing where they go, can negatively impact the relationship between youth and parent, which in turn can increase delinquent behaviors (Warr, 2007).

Grandparent/grandchild relationships. Much of the current literature on the relationship between grandparent and grandchild was found to be focused on custodial grandparents who step in to provide homes for grandchildren when parents are unavailable to meet this responsibility for differing reasons, including incarceration, mental health issues, and substance abuse. Of interest was that the outcomes for both youth and grandparent in these situations has been found to be poor, due to a variety of causes including stress, poor coping skills, financial strain, and isolation

from supportive peers for the grandparents (Bailey, Letiecq, & Porterfield, 2009; Day & Bazemore, 2011; Williams, 2011; Backhouse & Graham, 2012; Van Etten & Gautam, 2012).

Predictors of close relationships between a grandparent and grandchild have been found to be impacted by parental perception of the quality of grand parenting, although the father's perception of quality was not found to be significant during adolescence (Hakoyama & MaloneBeach, 2013). Influence on parental behaviors through advice and emotional support to parents, support of norms, and assistance with supervisory tasks all demonstrated the ability to assist in positive behaviors by the youth (Dunifon & Bajracharya, 2012). The main findings of one study indicated that increased involvement by grandparent's was associated with decreased emotional problems among youth, as well as additional prosocial behaviors in the entire sample used, although there were differences in the area of reduced adjustment difficulties for those youth from single or step-families than from two parent families (Attar-Schwartz, Tan, Buchanan, Flouri, & Griggs, 2009). The study utilized a sample of adolescents which represented equal percentages of males and females, family composition (intact, stepfamilies, and single parent families), other family compositions such as living with a grandparent, older sibling, or another relative, and broadly represented age, ethnic origin, and socio-economic background (Attar-Schwartz, Tan, & Buchanan, 2009).

Research on non-custodial grandparent/grandchild relationships focuses primarily on the relationship, and less on the use of the grandparent as resources for change. Findings have indicated that these relationships have value for the youth according to information obtained through interviews with the adolescents in the study, especially when the parent/grandparent relationship was positive (Attar-Schwartz, Tan, & Buchanan, 2009). However, other research

indicated a null relationship between grandparent/grandchild relationships and youth well-being, indicating that these supports did not impact functioning in an optimistic manner, and one study found evidence that a close relationship with a grandparent led to lower grades in school (Dunifon & Bajracharya, 2012). It is important to note that the researchers of this study state that too much should not be made of this finding since only one participant, making up 8% of the sample population, led to this finding (Dunifon & Bajracharya, 2012).

It is important to note that these relationships do not develop in isolation but rather are connected as part of the social matrix of the family (Mueller & Elder, 2003). To take this point further, grandparent/grandchild relationships are as complex as any other type of relationship, and can range from detached to ambivalent to close, with one study reporting that the more support provided by the grandparent, the more ambivalent the relationship tended to be, due to issues of perceived constraints on objectives of autonomy by the grandchild (Michels, Albert, & Ferring, 2011). Cultural messages, as well as meanings and contexts along both cultural and gendered factors, influenced how members of the family learned about rules and expectations in family and society (Stelle, Fruhauf, Orel, & Landry-Meyer, 2010).

Synthesizing Perspectives in the Literature

Many of the studies on grandparent/grandchild relationships are quantitative or mixed methods studies, examining data from a statistical perspective, with some use of case study or interviews to support the statistics obtained. The qualitative studies that exist on these relationships use a variety of methodology. Cross-sectional studies, such as the one performed by Griggs, Buchanan, Attar-Schwartz, & Flouri (2010), indicated that the difficulty with the findings was in the directions of associations between variables. The study evaluated these variables from

the perspective of the youth, through surveys of 1,569 young people and also in-depth interviews of 40 of these children. Findings supported the concept that involvement by grandparents promoted the well-being of the children, through participation with them in developing pro-social hobbies, involvement in educational settings with decreased incidents of difficulties in these venues, fewer peer problems, less emotional problems, and the resource of someone to discuss the youth's future plans.

A quantitative study by Hakoyama & Malonbeach (2013) examined relationships between grandparents and grandchildren from an ecological perspective. Demographic, personal, and environmental factors were considered as they relate to the closeness of these relationships, and a retrospective examination of three stages, childhood, adolescence, and young adulthood, was performed. Findings indicated support for the author's hypothesis regarding a pattern related to the above mentioned variables. Reports by young adults between ages 18 and 27 found that being close with a grandparent decreased as the youth aged from childhood to young adulthood. Factors such as the parent's perception of grandparenting quality (mother's perception being more influential than the perceptions of the father), personality match between grandchild/grandparent, and the education level of the grandparent were closely associated with the closeness between grandparent and grandchild.

Breheny, Stephens, & Spilsbury (2013) performed a qualitative study which used secondary data from a longitudinal mixed methods project. The purpose of the study was to analyze how grandparents described the experience of grandparenthood, in an effort to divulge the greater social foundation of personal relationships. Discourse analysis was used to analyze interview transcripts. The analysis centered on how grandparents in general described the

experience of grandparenthood, with the purpose of identifying patterns on how these individuals conveyed their conduct, as well as how they judged the conduct of others. Grandparents in this study were not identified by any specific variables concerning their grandchildren, such as involvement in juvenile justice programs.

The research studies reviewed explored the importance of the grandparent/grandchild relationship, with each study defining various components involved in the meaning of support to the subjects who participated (Griggs, Tan, Buchanan, Attar-Schwartz, & Flouri, 2010; Breheny, Stephens, & Spilsbury, 2013; Hakoyama & MaloneBeach, 2013). Perspectives of the grandchildren provided information on the manner in which the relationships changed as the grandchild ages and the ways in which grandchildren see the grandparent as supports (Hakoyama & MaloneBeach, 2013). Grandparents were asked to provide information on how they comprehend these relationships and what their role in them is, with a focus on how they support grandchildren without interfering in the parenting of these children (Breheny, Stephens, & Spilsbury, 2013). An ecological perspective was utilized in one study to examine patterns within the relationships, with a focus on how the issue of closeness changes as the grandchild ages to young adulthood (Hakoyama & MaloneBeach, 2013).

In a study on the use or value of non-custodial grandparents in supporting behavioral change in youth identified as juvenile delinquents or offenders, the concepts of closeness and support that the grandparent could provide was significant to determining if these relationships are able to be useful in the process of change. Each of these studies indicated that the relationships between grandparent and grandchild had merit in providing support, companionship, and usefulness as confidants and problem solvers (Griggs, Tan, Buchanan, Attar-Schwartz, &

Flouri, 2010; Breheny, Stephens, & Spilsbury, 2013; Hakoyama & MaloneBeach, 2013). Additionally, the joy that these relationships gave to grandparents demonstrated reasoning for the commitment that they made to the well-being of the youth (Breheny, Stephens, & Spilsbury, 2013). Involvement in important aspects of the grandchild's life such as educational and recreational arena's allowed the grandparent to provide the youth with a resource and support that may have been lacking with parents in two parent working households, single parent households, and step parent households (Griggs, Tan, Buchanan, Attar-Schwartz, & Flouri, 2010).

One area that has been determined to be of importance to the relationship between grandparent and grandchild is the perspective of the parents, particularly the mother (Griggs et al., 2010b). The view point of the parents has the ability to influence the amount of contact between child and grandparent, thus impacting the ability of the relationship to provide support to the youth (Griggs, Tan, Buchanan, Attar-Schwartz, & Flouri, 2010). Other issues involved in the level of support provided by grandparents include the economic status of the grandparent, education level of the grandparent, and the personality match between grandparent and grandchild (Hakoyama & MaloneBeach, 2013). Contact frequency and the health of the grandparent were found to be outcomes of closeness rather than predictors of the closeness of the relationship (Hakoyama & MaloneBeach, 2013). Frequency could be related back to the perspective of the parent, where health issues could impact the ability of the grandparent to be a resource for the youth.

Summary and Conclusions

The literature found in the research of current literature conducted by this writer provided support for the importance of the grandparent/grandchild relationship, although there are a few

studies which indicate findings in opposition to this concept. One area of importance discovered in the research was that the relationship between parent and grandparent had the ability to determine whether the grandparent and grandchild have the opportunity to be close. Other findings demonstrated the difficulties for custodial grandparents, and the ways in which this dedication and responsibility can lead to poor outcomes for both grandparent and grandchild. Given that the findings are primarily in favor of the usefulness of the grandparent/grandchild relationship, there was support for new research which explores the value of these relationships in promoting behavioral change for youth deemed to be delinquent or Persons In Need of Supervision (PINS).

.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for adolescents who had been designated by authority figures such as family court or criminal court to be juvenile delinquents. Grounded theory was used as the methodology. The chapter includes a restatement of the research questions, definitions of the central concepts of the study, identification of the research tradition and the rationale for that choice.

The role of the researcher in the study was discussed, with definitions and explanations of my role, which is that of observer from a distance. I was the original program supervisor who brought the Treatment Foster Care Oregon program to the Capital District of Upstate New York, so I have a professional relationship with the administrators of the TFC, Inc., who developed, markets, and provides supervision and certification of these programs around the world. The plan was for the administrators to introduce me to program supervisors around the United States to solicit participation in the study. Participation was completely up to these program supervisors and their staff, administration from the TFC, Inc. will not pressure any one to participate. I had no supervisory or instructor relationships involving power over the participants. As a former Program Supervisor of a Treatment Foster Care of Oregon program, there was the potential for bias because of both familiarity with the model, and experience in working with these youths. This potential bias was addressed through the use of a transcription program that transcribed each interview word for word.

Research Questions

- 1. What is the value in the grandparent becoming a confidant and problem solver for the youth in an effort to avoid or decrease antisocial or criminal activities?
- 2. What action by the grandparent has the professional determined to provide the most support for parents?
- 3. In what way does the youth's perception of the grandparent affect their ability to be a positive resource?

Major sections of the chapter. In this chapter, the research questions are restated, the central concepts are reviewed, and the research tradition discussed. Researcher role, along with any bias and ethical issues, was reviewed. Methodology, including sampling procedures, recruitment, and data collection were explained. Data analysis, ethical procedures, and trustworthiness were explained. A summary of all components are provided at the end of the chapter.

Central Concepts

For the purposes of this study, the central and primary concept was that youth identified by the juvenile justice system as delinquent or Persons In Need of Supervision need additional supports to be successful in changing the behavioral trajectory in the direction of more socially acceptable actions and activities. A second concept was that familial resources may be of use in the process. Finally, the third concept was that non-custodial grandparents may be a valuable resource because of their relationship to the youth.

Research tradition. Qualitative methodology has been the research tradition used for this study. Qualitative research explores the life experiences of the sample population, with the intent of studying these experiences and developing conclusions about the concepts under study. The

use of qualitative methodology goes beyond the scientific endeavor to find truth, and incorporates an aesthetic and ethical purpose in the research (Holloway & Todres, 2007). Grounded theory was the design utilized to build theory on whether the use of non-custodial grandparents would be of value in the process of changing antisocial or criminal behaviors toward more socially acceptable behaviors. Social learning theory provided a basis regarding the manner in which behaviors are incorporated into the youth's activities and actions, and is the foundation upon which grounded theory was used to develop assumptions and conclusions regarding the value of use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for youth identified as juvenile delinquent or Persons In Need of Supervision.

The Role of the Researcher

The role of researcher in this study was one of observer, albeit from a distance. Data was collected from Program Supervisors, Individual and Family Therapists in various Treatment

Foster Care Oregon (TFCO) programs across the United States through interviews via phone. As a former Program Supervisor of one of these programs, I have a professional relationship with the administrators of the TFC, Inc., which developed, markets, supervises, and certifies these programs for agencies that contract with the center. Because of this professional relationship, these administrators agreed to provide contact information and introductions via phone or email to Program Supervisors in the United States per my request, allowing me to solicit my sample from different types of geographic constituencies; from rural, urban, and suburban areas. In this manner, I was able to obtain a sample population which provided services to juvenile delinquent or Person In Need of Supervision that was diversified.

I have no personal relationships with any of the sample participants with no issues of power related to the interactions. Research bias would be based on my own experience as a former Program Supervisor, and was addressed, as previously mentioned, by having all interviews transcribed word for word, thus avoiding misinterpretation. Since all information was collected directly from program staff via phone and included no identifying information on the subjects, there was no need for concerns around a protected population.

Methodology

Study participants were solicited through introductions by the TFC, Inc. Youth and families were not the identified participants of the study. To obtain the necessary data to answer the research questions being asked, Program Supervisors, Individual and Family Therapists were the research participants in this study.

Program Supervisors. Individual or Family Therapists were interviewed in the data collection, by phone. All staff members involved in the services of the Treatment Foster Care Oregon program provided data on relationships and familial closeness. Due to transcription, second interviews were unnecessary.

The plan was to identify between 10 and 20 Program Supervisors willing to participate in the study. However, only two programs agreed to participate. Each program works with 10 to 12 youth at a time. Since the criteria for inclusion in the study as it applied to the youth was that they have at least one living non-custodial grandparent that could be, or has been, a resource and support for the youth, the number of programs and supervisors used was based on the need to collect sufficient data to be able to develop theory about the value of these relationships.

Programs were asked to include only those youths who are between 12 and 17 years of age with

at least one living non-custodial grandparent. Grandparents must not have any type of custodial relationship to the youth, formal or informal. Providing supervision for the youth is acceptable.

Using programs from different geographic areas and varied geographic types (rural,

urban, or suburban), the expectation was that the youth population would be of differing genders, ethnicities, and family compositions. This provided the opportunity for data that met both diversity considerations as well as saturation as they relate to the concepts.

Instrumentation. In the interviews with Program Supervisors, a standardized, open-ended approach was used. No current instruments met this study's need, so interview questions were developed by this researcher. Interviews will be conducted via phone. Had the program been located within driving distance of 100 miles or less, I intended to do the interview in person.

Unfortunately, both programs were in other states nowhere near this researcher's home. No identifying information was requested of any professional regarding the youth and their families.

Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO) was recruited until they had no further programs that had been in place long enough to provide saturation of data. All data was collected by this researcher. Data was recorded on a digital recorder and uploaded to TranscribeMe.

Research participants did not require any exit procedures, because the professionals involved in these programs were used. Any questions they had about the study or use of information was provided during the interview process. A synopsis of the study will be sent to the programs once the study is approved.

Data Analysis Plan. Instrumentation was developed to connect instrument questions to specific research questions. Both hand coding and software analysis was used to find themes as they relate to these questions. NVivo 11 is the software program that was identified to perform

the analysis. Deviant cases, where the information obtained does not appear to align with the majority of the data from other cases was intended to be further analyzed to identify the causes or reasons these cases are different. However, this was not necessary due to no information that did not align with other data.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Through this method of recruitment, adequacy and appropriateness of the data was met, and the use of transcription was used to assure that this researchers interpretations were correct. Triangulation was used by interviews of the individual and family therapists to determine if their perspectives of the usefulness of non-custodial grandparents aligned with those of the program supervisors.

Transferability was addressed by the use of program supervisors, individual therapists, and family therapists in an effort to determine themes which appeared in the cases discussed. Dependability was also met through the use of program supervisors, individual therapists, and family therapists to cross check information provided. Confirmability will be addressed through the use of researcher self-reflection. Journaling documented researcher self-reflection, and any issues that came about in this process has been documented in the limitations section of the final research study.

Ethical Concerns

Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO), which developed, markets, and certifies TFCO programs, agreed to provide this researcher with introductions to Program Supervisors within the United States for the purpose of data collection. Upon these introductions, any confidentiality agreements required by these various agencies were signed by the researcher and copies were

included in the IRB application. In addition, this researcher did not ask for identifying information from participants on the cases discussed. No cases were solicited for participation and there was no need for interventions with cases since the study was based on the perceptions of the professional participants.

Data has been password protected on the researcher's computer, hard copies of any documents was, and still is, kept in a locked file cabinet. The flash drive related to the data analysis was and is also kept in the locked file cabinet. Only this researcher has access.

The primary ethical issue in this study was researcher bias, since this researcher has been program supervisor for TFCO on two occasions in the past. Given the focused and limited information being collected on cases, the youth and families involved in the various programs participating were protected by anonymity. All staff of each program were asked not to use names or other identifying information on the youth,

Summary

Chapter 3 provides information on the researcher role within this study, restates the research questions, and details information on how participants will be solicited. Central concepts of the study are explained. An explanation of the research tradition is provided. The development of instruments and the experience of the researcher within the MTFC program are discussed as they relate to instrumentation. Data collection and analysis procedures are outlined, along with the means being used to assure trustworthiness and identification of researcher bias in order to minimize the impact of the researcher's experience with the program on the study so that the data analysis is not influenced negatively by researcher bias. The software program that was

utilized to analyze data was identified. Finally, ethical concerns as they relate to participants, confidentiality, and protection of data collected are detailed.

Chapter 4: Presentation of Results

Introduction

The purpose of this grounded theory study was to examine the perceptions and beliefs of the professional staff of Treatment Foster Care Programs of Oregon in California and Colorado as they relate to the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for youth designated as juvenile delinquent or Persons in Need of Supervision. This chapter provides information obtained from interviews of staff regarding their experiences with the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for the youth placed in these foster care programs, which are alternative programs to residential, group, or placements in juvenile secure facilities. Information on how data was collected and analyzed is included in this chapter.

Research Questions

The following questions were the focus of the interviews conducted with the two

Treatment Foster Care of Oregon programs. The answers to these questions were intended to

discover whether or not programs should spend time and effort to involve non-custodial parents
in the treatment and discharge plans for the youth in these foster homes. This information could
inform treatment and improve outcomes for youth identified by the system as Juvenile Delinquent
or Persons In Need of Supervision.

- 1. What is the value in the grandparent becoming a confidant and problem solver for the youth in an effort to avoid or decrease antisocial or criminal activities?
- 2. What action by the grandparent has the professional determined to provide the most support for parents?

3. In what way does the youth's perception of the grandparent affect their ability to be a positive resource?

Setting

All interviews were performed by telephone, at the convenience of the participant. Interviews were recorded on a digital recording device, with the participant consenting to the recording and on speaker phone. Evernote was used to download these interviews, with transcription by Transcribe Me. These transcripts were then downloaded into NVivo 11 Pro, where data analysis was organized.

Demographics

The table below provides limited demographic information on the roles of the participants. No further demographic information has been entered, including the geographic area in which the program is performed, to avoid the potential that these programs and the responding participants might be identified.

Table 1

Demographics of Sample Participants

Title of Participants	Number of Participants by job title	Gender of Participants
Program Supervisors	2 – PS1 and PS2	1 female
		1 male
Family Therapists	2 – FT1 and FT2	1 female
		1 male
Individual Therapists	2 – IT1 and IT2	2 females
Totals	6	6

Interviews

All interviews, as previously stated, were conducted by telephone and recorded on a digital recorder. All sample participants signed consent forms prior to being interviewed. Interviews were scheduled at the convenience of the participant. These interviews lasted from twenty minutes to one hour, depending on the role of the participant. Program Supervisor interviews were lengthier than Individual or Family Therapists, primarily due to their oversight of the entire program as opposed to working in one specific area. For the purposes of the remainder of this study, Program Supervisors are to be referred to as PS1 and PS2, Family Therapists as FT1 and FT2, and Individual Therapists as IT1 and IT2.

One issue that could have influenced the results of the study was that these programs often have a high staff turnover rate and one of the programs included in the study had changed the Program Supervisor (PS2) since I initially contacted them to participate. PS2 was willing to be included in the study and had done some research into the history of the program in order to be able to fully answer the questions that might be presented with during interview. The data he provided demonstrated less frequent use, or even exploration of possible use, of non-custodial grandparents by that program than the other program involved. The impact of this information was that there was a reduced amount of available data regarding the efficacy of using family, in particular non-custodial grandparents, as resources for the population the programs work with to assist in the process of change. The change from having multiple agencies from which to gather data to having two, and one with a fairly new Program Supervisor, provided less saturation of data than originally intended.

Data Collection

There were two programs involved, providing this researcher with two Program Supervisors (PS1 and PS2), two Family Therapists (FT1 and FT2), and two Individual Therapists (IT1 and IT2). One interview was conducted with each participant. In order to ensure that the researcher had a clear understanding of the answers, they were repeated back to the participant, for any corrections of misunderstandings of the information.

Data Analysis

Data was transcribed using TranscribeMe, after being uploaded into Evernote. This served to avoid the potential for the researcher to misunderstand or reword questions and/or answers unintentionally. Once these transcriptions were done and returned to this researcher, NVivo 11 Pro was used for the purpose of coding and analyzing data.

In performing the analysis, I first coded the interviews by research question. Once this was accomplished, I looked for themes within the categories of each research question. The following table is a representation of the themes that emerged related to each research question.

Table 2

Research Questions and Themes

RQ1: What is the value in the grandparent becoming a	Choosing resources	
confidant and problem solver for the youth in an effort to	Family resources	
avoid or decrease antisocial or criminal activities?	Grandparents	
RQ2: What action by the grandparent has the	Types of support by the Grandparents	
professional determined to provide the most support for	Portions and involvement of the Treatment Foster Care	
parents?	Oregon evidence-based model	
RQ3: In what way does the youth's perception of the	Type of support by the	
grandparent affect their ability to be a positive resource?	Grandparents	

Choosing resources. PS1 and PS2 reported the use of psychological evaluations, psychological history, and any collateral data was reported to be of importance in choosing appropriate resources for the youth in the program. The Treatment of Foster Care of Oregon (TFCO) programs included involvement and support from probation officers and Guardians Ad Litum in treatment planning. The TFCO Program Supervisors (PS1 and PS2) reported that the programs also offered aftercare to the families once the youth returned home, the time frame of which varied from two to six months depending on family need. Community resources were the first to be explored and were utilized the most - places such as recreation centers or school programming for example. Peer relationships were explored, in an effort to enhance positive relationships in the youth's community and help them to join in pro-social activities with a peer. Family, including grandparents, have been utilized as a support for both the youth and the parents when the relative is a positive resource.

Family resources. Family was identified by Treatment of Foster Care Oregon staff as a support system for both youth and parents with all of the youth they had worked with whose families remained involved with these youths. For some of the teens, families were no longer part of their plans and outside resources had to be explored, such as foster parents becoming permanent resources through adoption or simply by staying involved with the youth after the program was no longer in place. Aunts, grandparents, and other extended family were included in treatment planning when they were available, willing, and appropriate resources. FT1 and FT2 stated that it was necessary to make sure there is unity in the beliefs of the parents and other family members or this could become a problem in that the youth will triangulate between family members to obtain whatever goal they are seeking.

Types of support by the grandparents. In discussing support by the grandparents as it relates to parents, supervision while parents worked or were out was identified as the most important support for parents, with the understanding that this worked best when parents and grandparents agreed on rules and expectations. PS2 said that when grandparents are "bonding to the goals of the youth and family" it is important that they "don't… work against maybe what the parents or guardians are looking for and what the youth is looking for, and kind of maybe sabotaging that."

When asked about the kind of support grandparents provide, PS2 stated, "just participation or interest in their activities and their daily lives, so like asking them questions about what they're doing, showing some interest in their activities, maybe attending events, those sorts of things. So just showing that really vested interest in them." FT1 verbalized that when grandparents were considered a support, youth described them as "Most of them...in pretty loving and caring terms." IT2 stated the youth see "the grandparents seem like they're the cheerleaders. They're the ones that are always rooting for them". Support for the youth was recognized by all sample participants to be time spent with the adolescent. In addition, PS1 reported that grandparents were important to the youth, "because it gives them a sense of family". Safety was another theme that was found to be of value. PS2 said that it was key when grandparents are "kind of integrated into maybe the possible safety planning, or just kind of implementation of daily expectations." At times, grandparents were talked about as being more loving than parents. PS1 also stated, "sometimes for the kid it's a biological thing - like their biology" and continued to report "sometimes it's that they have memories of good times and love and all that. They can provide a sense of history... culturally, they can give a huge amount" and that this was deemed important to the youth.

Ways in which the grandparents were found to be non-supportive were when they would work against the structure and rules that the parent(s) are trying to put into place. FT2 reported that, "In my experience, a lot of times there have been very different, if you will, parenting approaches or just supervision approaches, between the parents and the grandparents that ultimately result in conflict. "differences in parenting style and a lack of cohesion in expectations" which led to conflict between parents and grandparents In addition, FT1 expressed that youth reported not believing the grandparents to be a support when, "a grandparent maybe is not agreeing with something, whether it's a lifestyle decision or maybe just differences in generational things". FT1 went on to verbalize that "they may not particularly welcome someone that's not feeling supportive about something they might want to do or what they might think".

Portions of the model and involvement of the model. The Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO) is a program based on social learning theory. As described on the TFCO website, "There are three versions of TFCO, each serving specific age groups. Each version has been subjected to rigorous scientific evaluations and found to be efficacious. The programs are:

- *TFCO-A* for adolescents (12-17 years)
- *TFCO-C* for middle childhood (7-11 years)
- <u>TFCO-P</u> for preschool-aged children (3-6 years)" (TFCO Consultants, Inc., 2013.)

Research for this study specifically utilized TFCO-A programs due to the data collected referring specifically to adolescents. In these programs, both youth and parents are educated in ways to change negative behaviors and support or participate in prosocial activities. TFCO is a point and level system provided in a foster home by specially trained foster parents. Foster parents do not

make decisions about privileges the youth have, this is done by the Program Supervisor who is on call 24/7. Youth have to ask the Program Supervisor for any privileges, such as spending money, going to activities, or participating in activities. All privileges are based on points for the day, and points are only good for that day. There are three levels and once the youth obtains level three, their graduation from the program is arranged with the discharge resource, whether this is parents, relatives, or others (TFCO Consultants Inc., 2013).

Aftercare is provided when youth return home. PS2 explained that, "typically we do what's called aftercare once they discharge from our program, so they actually continue to see our family and individual therapists for two to three months, depending on success". Outside programs that work with very specific issues, i.e., sexual trauma, drug abuse, are referred to and put into place. PS2 expressed that when the original assessment is done, "it also does direct some of the discharge information as far as what services maybe they need following [discharge] to be sustainable." Ongoing contact with the Program Supervisor, Individual Therapist, and Family Therapist is provided if and when needed. At times, it will be only the Program Supervisor, who is on call 24 hours a day, seven days a week (TFCO Consultants Inc., 2013).

Trustworthiness

Adjustments had to be made to the study due to the limited pool of sample participants. The original expectation was that a minimum of five to ten programs would be utilized for this study. However, due to the limited number of active programs and agreements to participate, only two programs were available for use in collecting data. Therefore, rather than analyzing by program, this researcher broke down the sample population by role in each program, which provided more data than anticipated. There were no issues with researcher bias toward one

program or staff person over another because the researcher never met the sample participants and had no relationship with them. Consistency issues were met by using the same interview protocols and questions, with no deviation from the subject matter. Confirmability was handled by this researcher repeating back to the participant what they had said in her own words, to ensure that the data was clearly understood by the researcher from what the participant reported. No second interviews or review of transcripts was performed.

Results

The results of this study is organized by research question.

RQ1: What is the value in the grandparent becoming a confidant and problem solver for the youth in an effort to avoid or decrease antisocial or criminal activities?

Each Program Supervisor, Family Therapist, and one Individual Therapist agreed with the importance of grandparent involvement when possible and safe. The remaining Individual Therapist explained that the only involvement she had seen by grandparents was custodial and could not speak to the use of non-custodial grandparents. IT1 reported that there is value in use of grandparents as supports to provide supervision and safety for the youth.

All Program Supervisors, Individual Therapists, and Family therapist spoke about using the grandparents as a source of support for both parents and youth. The youth will use the grandparents' home as a safe haven when they need to get away from their home or another situation. Every sample participant discussed the importance of safety with all family members, including grandparents. These two program looks into all involved family members to determine safety for the youth.

Many of the adolescents described their grandparents to their therapists as taking interest in their activities. IT2 described grandparents reported by youth as "cheerleaders" for them when they achieved goals or made good choices, support that was important to them. Having the grandparent as someone to talk to that is not a parent was discussed by several staff members, with PS1 stating, "it gives them a sense of family... for this grandmother, she worked mostly from home, so she was extremely accessible to this youth in particular. Pretty much anytime she needed somebody else, it was a grandmother." The PS2 commented that, "a lot of the kids in our program, they may have spent significant time with grandparents either as a caregiver or just as a natural family support, so I think it's a really good resource to utilize."

RQ2: What action by the grandparent has the professional determined to provide the most support for parents?

As briefly mentioned earlier, the primary action described by PS1 and PS2 provided by grandparents that the parents find most helpful is providing supervision while parents work or have other tasks to do, as well as when they simply need a break. PS2 said that, "I think it can be helpful as far as providing respite care for the families; they can have a little break." No staff members of program one or program two discussed any other actions in which the grandparents could be supportive to the parents.

It is important to note that the Program Supervisors and Family Therapists talked about the difficulty in these relationships when the parents and grandparents have different parenting styles, as noted in the section on types of support by grandparents. If or when parents and grandparents disagree on privileges, or the grandparent responds to triangulation by the youth and gives permission when the parent has said no, this could undermine the parent's authority. FT2 talked

specifically about the conflict that can occur between parents and grandparents when there are different supervision styles involved.

RQ3: In what way does the youth's perception of the grandparent affect their ability to be a positive resource?

Five out of six sample participants reported that youth discussed warmth, interest in activities, someone who listens to them, being a cheerleader for them, and the acknowledgment of accomplishments by grandparents as the key activities that make them a positive resource, leading to connection and caring on both sides of the relationship. The ability to provide the youth with some of the family history as it related to both parents and other family members was considered as another way that grandparents provided a connection to the youth. PS2 mentioned his belief that when the relationship is good, both youth and grandparents benefit on a personal basis.

On the other end of this research question, the actions that create a sense of disconnection between youth and grandparents are important to note. IT1 stated, "The only thing that I have seen is grandparents, obviously, tend to be a little bit older, so sometimes I think when kids try to do the traditional things today like use phones and internet and things like that, I think sometimes they feel that grandparents can't relate to that." PS2 stated, "I think some stuff maybe like superficial if they're unhappy with what the grandparents are deciding. So if they're of implementing rules that they're unhappy with, or they may express that they're dissatisfied with..." PS1, who had the most experience running a TFCO program, indicated that issues such as use of drugs and/or alcohol by the grandparents also interferes in their ability to be a support.

Summary

In Chapter 4, I described the analysis of the findings of my study by research question. The data was collected, via recorded interviews with permission from each participant, through telephone calls between the sample participants and myself. The results of the analysis demonstrated that non-custodial grandparents are utilized when available and willing. In speaking about the issue of use of grandparents, FT2 stated that grandparents "may not be able or willing to provide the structure and/or support that a kid coming out of TFCO needs in that transition phase". PS2 discussed that "a lot of the kids in our program, they come from untraditional households, as far as single parents, or kind of dealing with substance abuse or criminal behavior. So I think it's just extra support for them when they need that time or childcare."

Additional findings were that if there are conflicts between parents and grandparents, then there is a decreased opportunity for grandparents to support grandchildren. When there are concerns about safety in the grandparent's presence, use of drugs or alcohol as example, then these relationships are of little value in treatment and discharge planning in the arena of behavioral change for youth designated Juvenile Delinquent or Persons In Need of Supervision.

In Chapter 5, I will provide an interpretation of the findings of the study, discuss limitations, and make recommendations for further research. Potential implications of social change will be discussed. Finally, I will discuss the theory resulting from this research in an effort to explain whether there is value in the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for youth in the juvenile justice system.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

This research study was conducted to obtain data regarding the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for youth designated as Juvenile Delinquents and Persons In Need of Supervision from the perspective of the professionals who work in a program that is specifically for those youth. The source of data was interviews with program staff of TFCO, an evidence-based practice providing alternatives to residential or secure detention placement known as Treatment Foster Care Oregon (Greenwood, 2008).

Key findings. Recent research has indicated that grandparents are more likely to describe closer relationships with supportive grandparents than with those who appear detached (Mueller & Elder, 2003). While interviewing sample participants, findings from five out of six participants indicated that the issues of warmth, interest in activities, and ability to talk to the grandparent as

related to the concept of support. Alternatively, IT1 spoke about grandchildren feeling that grandparents did not relate to the activities that youth find normal in their lives, things like internet use and cell phone use.

Also described as important to the youth was the sense of history that the grandparent could provide, information on their parents as children and of other family members and events within the family. As noted earlier, PS1 discussed that the biological connection has been indicated by the adolescents in her program as valuable to these youth, in terms of the connection by blood. PS1 went on to explain that this association appears to be related to trust issues.

Interpretation of Findings

Data on the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning is found to be very limited, both in the literature as noted in Chapter Two, and in the interviews with the staff of the two evidence-based programs providing data. The program staff included in this study were from California and Colorado. The staff in California were PS1, FT1, and IT1, and the staff from the Colorado program were PS2, FT2, and IT2. Staff in the Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO) programs that were interviewed noted that grandparents can have issues which have been passed down through the generations, making them poor supports for the youth.

Another reason provided by FT2 was that there can be conflict between the parents and the grandparents, creating a rift that causes a lack of interaction between grandparent and grandchild.

Alternatively, as stated in Chapter Two, a study discussed the finding that increased involvement by grandparents was found to be associated with decreased emotional problems

among youth, as well as increased prosocial behaviors in the entire sample, but there were differences in reduced adjustment problems for those youth from single or step-families rather than from two parent families (Attar-Schwartz, Tan, Buchanan, et al., 2009). This provides information for research question one, supporting the idea that there is value in involvement by non-custodial grandparents. However, the authors of this research study state that there were limitations of being "based on a cross-sectional design and therefore the direction of associations between variables cannot be determined" (Attar-Schwartz, Tan, Buchanan, et al., 2009, p. 1064).

Every staff person from both programs that were interviewed indicated that the most important support grandparents can provide to parents is supervision, due to most parents working when youth get out of school. Research also indicates that the effect on parental behaviors related to advice and emotional support given to parents, support of norms, and assistance with supervisory tasks all have the ability to assist in positive behaviors by the youth (Dunifon & Bajracharya, 2012). Greenwood (2008) discussed the importance of additional supports and therapy for both youth and family during the time the youth is in placement (Greenwood, 2008). In relation to research question 2, the data collected indicates that assistance with supervision is an important support for parents.

Data which either supports or does not support research question three in the literature is limited. One study, discussing the relationships in step-families indicates that grandparents influence can be significant, especially considering that the generation of baby boomers who are the grandparents of today are living longer than those generations before them (Gibson, 2013). Another study indicated that relationships with grandparents are often close with grandchildren (Tamm, Kasearu, & Tulviste, 2014). Data collected from interviews stated that these

relationships are described by the youth as warm, loving, and supportive when they exist. One limitation of these relationships is when the youth perceives the grandparent(s) as not accepting of lifestyle choices, and another is that they are often not tech savvy, which could create a barrier between grandchild and grandparent(s).

Discussion

As stated earlier in this study, grounded theory is a research methodology which uses a systematic procedure to build theory through data collection and analysis (Engward, 2013).

Treatment Foster Care of Oregon is based on social learning theory, which states that intervention advancement is directed by empirically grounded theory (Leve, Fisher, & Chamberlain, 2009).

Of importance was that the use of social learning theory as a framework along with the use of grounded theory to develop new concepts and theories allowed this research to break new ground in the concept of supports for juveniles. The interviews of professionals who work within

Treatment Foster Care Oregon programs indicated a number of areas in which the data was grounded in the theory that there can be value in the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for youth designated as Juvenile Delinquents or Person In Need of Supervision. FT2 talked about how integration of non-custodial grandparents into safety planning, or implementation of daily expectations provided assistance to parent's. FT1 reported that the grandparents may know a lot about the family history and they know a lot about the children.

FT1 also stated that grandparents may be aware of possible weaknesses or possible ways that they could support the youth and parents, and that this support may be acceptable by the parent. All staff agreed that when there is a positive relationship between adolescents and

grandparents, and a positive relationship between parents and grandparents, the grandparents can provide a safe place for the youth to go when they need to; that the feelings of warmth, love, and support are important to the youth in decision-making, and that there is a positive perception of grandparents. However, when there is conflict between parents and grandparents, the relationships with grandchildren are often constrained. During interviews, PS1, PS2, FT1 and IT2 discussed the value of caregiving support by grandparents as significant to the relationship between parents and grandparents.

When grandparents are perceived as cheerleaders, interested in and caring about the youth's achievements and goals, then they become increasingly valuable in the process of decision-making by the adolescent. Detached grandparents do not appear to have this influence on grandchildren. The assumption here is that the closer the relationship between grandparents and grandchildren, the more influential they can be in the process of changing behaviors by being available and listening to these youths. Willingness to listen to the grandchild has been identified by the professionals as a very important element in the relationship. FT2 talked about looking at family first when building a support system for the youth. The findings of the data indicate that grandparents who are involved, have positive relationships with the parents, and can provide support, caregiving, and a safe place for the youth to go when they need to, all support the theory that there is value in the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning for youth designated as juvenile delinquents or Persons in Need of Supervision.

What is concerning that was revealed in the interviews is that grandparents are not often considered for use as a support system. Community supports and professionals are more likely to be used than family resources. FT1 stated that the program he is family therapist in works first to

find support in the community, if possible. Perhaps the Boys & Girls Club or other organizations. When there is no involvement in outside programming, the staff work to help them with finding resources when there aren't resources currently being utilized. IT1 said that the staff tries to connect the youth with a lot of resources while they're in the program. They use volunteering or attempt to engage them in sports or some kind of program. FT2 explained that utilizing non-custodial grandparents can be challenging, FT2 explained that, "In my experience, a lot of times there have been very different, if you will, parenting approaches or just supervision approaches, between the parents and the grandparents that ultimately result in conflict."

To some extent, this is due to grandparents being inappropriate resources at times, due to various reasons such as histories of abuse of parents or drug and alcohol use, either past or present. Even when these are not present, grandparents are often overlooked as a resource for the child in exchange for the use of more professional means of supports.

Limitations

As stated in Chapter 1, and again in the discussion, community supports are more likely to be considered than extended family as resources for youth. Therefore, data collection on the use of non-custodial grandparents as resources is limited and requires further study. Another limitation of this study is the small sample participant pool that was available to this researcher. Only two programs in two different areas of the country, Colorado and California, were used to obtain data. Researcher bias, which was a concern at the beginning of the study, has turned out to be less problematic than initially believed, as the interviews were transcribed word for word and all results were based on these interviews and not the researcher's experience as a Program Supervisor. An additional limitation is that the levels of experience in the program varied among

participants. For example, one Program Supervisor (P1) had been in that role for eight years, where the other Program Supervisor (P2) had only four months in his role.

Recommendations

The primary recommendation resulting from this study is that further research into the use of family as resources for youth in the juvenile justice system be conducted, possibly with the sample participants the families and youth involved. Another recommendation is that programs, evidence-based or not, look closely into family resources for the youth they are working with to determine if there are supports otherwise overlooked. Finally, I would recommend conducting similar studies with other evidence-based programs, such as Functional Family Therapy (FFT) or Multisystemic Therapy (MST) in order to determine if these programs rely more on family resources than Treatment Foster Care Oregon.

Implications

There are a number of implications that result from this study. In terms of social change, learning more about involving non-custodial grandparents or other extended family in the treatment and discharge planning for youth designated as Juvenile Delinquent or Persons In Need of Supervision has the potential to provide helpful information for professionals when building a support system for the youth as a resource for behavioral change. In cases where the non-custodial grandparent is determined to be as positive source of support, adding them into the system on a planned basis can assist the youth in making more prosocial choices as opposed to antisocial choices. On an individual level, the youth then has the resources to become a functioning and happy person. This can also lead to less stress on the family system, which can help the unit to be a positive part of their community.

As this relates to community, the fewer issues of delinquency within means less tax money spent on adjudicating, supervising, incarcerating or treating youth. There is also the issue of safer communities when juvenile delinquency is decreased. Safety in communities also means less tax money going toward the same issues but also suggests that fewer individuals come to harm.

Conclusion

The use of grounded theory to perform this study has led to this researcher concluding that utilization of non-custodial grandparents, as well as other extended family, has potential as a source for support to both the youths and to the parents. However, it has also led to many more questions than answers, indicating the need for additional research on the topic. The framework of social learning theory for behavioral change is supported in the data collected, but the fact that the program in use for sample participants is based on this theory leads to the supposition that this was likely to be an outcome of the work.

References

- Akers, R. L. (1985). *Deviant behavior: A social learning approach*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Attar-Schwartz, S., Tan, J.-P., & Buchanan, A. (2009). Adolescents' perspectives on relationships with grandparents: The contribution of adolescent, grandparent, and parent–grandparent relationship variables. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *31*(9), 1057–1066. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2009.05.007.
- Attar-Schwartz, S., Tan, J.-P., Buchanan, A., Flouri, E., & Griggs, J. (2009). Grandparenting and adolescent adjustment in two-parent biological, lone-parent, and step-families. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23(1), 67–75. doi:10.1037/a0014383.
- Baker, L. A., & Mutchler, J. E. (2010). Poverty and Material Hardship in

 Grandparent-Headed Households. *Journal of Marriage & Family, 72*(4), 947–962.

 doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00741.x

- Backhouse, J., & Graham, A. (2012). Grandparents raising grandchildren: negotiating the complexities of role-identity conflict. *Child & Family Social Work*, 17(3), 306–315. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2206.2011.00781.x.
- Bailey, S. J., Letiecq, B. L., & Porterfield, F. (2009). Family Coping and Adaptation Among
 Grandparents Rearing Grandchildren. *Journal of Intergenerational Relationships*, 7(2-3),
 144–158. doi:10.1080/1535077090285107
- Bandura, A. (1971). Social learning theory. *General Learning Press*, 1 46. Retrieved from http://www.esludwig.com/uploads/2/6/1/0/26105457/bandura sociallearningtheory.pdf.
- Boeree, C. G. (2006). Personality theories: Jean Piaget. Retrieved from http://webspace.ship.edu/cgboer/Piaget.html.
- Breheny, M., Stephens, C., & Spilsbury, L. (2013). Involvement without interference: How grandparents negotiate intergenerational expectations in relationships with grandchildren.

 *Journal of Family Studies, 19(2), 174-184. Retrieved from http://jfs.e-contentmanagement.com/.
- Caldwell, M. F., & Van Rybroek, G. (2013). Effective treatment programs for violent adolescents: Programmatic challenges and promising features. *Aggression & Violent Behavior*, 18(5), 571–578. doi:10.1016/j.avb.2013.06.004.
- Calley, Nancy. (2012). Juvenile Offender Recidivism: An Examination of Risk Factors. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, *21*(3), 257–272. doi:10.1080/10538712.2012.668266.

- Coall, D. A., & Hertwig, R. (2011). Grandparental Investment A Relic of the Past or a Resource for the Future? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(2), 93–98. doi:10.1177/0963721411403269.
- Chamberlain, P., & Rosicky, J. G. (1995). The effectiveness of family therapy in the treatment of adolescents with conduct disorders and delinquency. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 21(4), 441. DOI: 10.1111/j.1752-0606.1995.tb00174.x.
- Childs, K. K., Sullivan, C. J., & Gulledge, L. M. (2011). Delinquent Behavior Across Adolescence: Investigating the Shifting Salience of Key Criminological Predictors. *Deviant Behavior*, 32(1), 64–100. doi:10.1080/01639621003748498.
- Contreras, L., Molina, V., & del Carmen Cano, M. (2011). In Search of Psychosocial Variables

 Linked to the Recidivism in Young Offenders. *European Journal of Psychology Applied*to Legal Context, 3(1), 77–88. Retrieved from http://www.journals.elsevier.com.
- Criminal Resource Manual. (1998). "Juvenile defined". U.S. Attorneys. Retrieved from http://www.justice.gov/usao/eousa/foia reading room/usam/title9/crm00038.htm.
- Davis, D., & Clifton, A. (1995). *Psychosocial theory: Erikson*. Retrieved from http://www.haverford.edu/psych/ddavis/p109g/erikson.stages.html.
- Day, S. E., & Bazemore, G. (2011). Two Generations at Risk: Child Welfare, Institutional Boundaries, and Family Violence in Grandparent Homes. *Child Welfare*, *90*(4), 99–116.
- Diamond, B., Morris, R. G., & Caudill, J. W. (2011). Sustaining families, dissuading crime: The effectiveness of a family preservation program with male delinquents. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *39*(4), 338–343. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2011.03.005.

- Dunifon, R., & Bajracharya, A. (2012). The Role of Grandparents in the Lives of Youth. *Journal of Family Issues*, 33(9), 1168–1194. http://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X12444271
- Engward, H. (2013). Understanding grounded theory. *Nursing Standard*, 28(7), 37–41.
- Farmer, E. M. Z., Burns, B. J., Wagner, H. R., Murray, M., & Southerland, D. G. (2010).
 Enhancing "Usual Practice" Treatment Foster Care: Findings From a Randomized Trial
 on Improving Youths' Outcomes. *Psychiatric Services*, 61(6), 555–61.
- Garland, A.F., Bickman, L., & Chorpita, B.F. (2010). Change what? Identifying quality improvement targets by investigating usual mental health care. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *37*(1-2), 15–26. doi: 10.1007/s10488-010-0279-y.
- Gault-sherman, M. (2012). It's a Two-Way Street: The Bidirectional Relationship Between Parenting and Delinquency. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 41(2), 121–45. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10964-011-9656-4
- Gibson, D. (2013). Ambiguous Roles in a Stepfamily: Using Maps of Narrative Practices to Develop a New Family Story with Adolescents and Parents. *Contemporary Family Therapy: An International Journal*, *35*(4), 793–805. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10591-013-9258-2
- Glaser, B. G. (1998). *Doing grounded theory: Issues and discussions*. Mill Valley, CA: Sociology Press.
- Greenwood, P. (2008). Prevention and Intervention Programs for Juvenile Offenders. *Future of Children*, *18*(2), 185–210.

- Griggs, J., Tan, J.-P., Buchanan, A., Attar-Schwartz, S., & Flouri, E. (2010a). "They"ve Always Been There for Me': Grandparental Involvement and Child Well-Being. *Children & Society*, 24(3), 200–214. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1099-0860.2009.00215.x
- Griggs, J., Tan, J.-P., Buchanan, A., Attar-Schwartz, S., & Flouri, E. (2010b). "They"ve Always

 Been There for Me': Grandparental Involvement and Child Well-Being. *Children & Society*, 24(3), 200–214. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1099-0860.2009.00215.x
- Haddad, E., Chen, C., & Greenberger, E. (2011). The Role of Important Non-Parental Adults (VIPs) in the Lives of Older Adolescents: A Comparison of Three Ethnic Groups.

 **Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 40(3), 310–9.
- Hakoyama, M., & MaloneBeach, E. E. (2013). Predictors of Grandparent–Grandchild Closeness:
 An Ecological Perspective. *Journal of Intergenerational Relationships*, 11(1), 32–49.
 http://doi.org/10.1080/15350770.2013.753834.
- Hannon, L. & Defina, R. (2012). Sowing the seeds: how adult incarceration promotes juvenile delinquency. Crime, Law and Social Change, 57(5), 475-491. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10611-012-9374-1.
- Henggeler, S.W., & Schoenwald, S.K. (2011). Evidence based interventions for juvenile offenders juvenile justice policies that support them. *Sharing Child and Youth Development Knowledge*, *25*(1), 1-28. Retrieved from http://mtfc.com/2011_EB_Interventions_for_Juv_Offenders.pdf.
- Henggeler, S. W., & Sheidow, A. J. (2012). Empirically Supported Family-Based Treatments for Conduct Disorder and Delinquency in Adolescents. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 38(1), 30–58.

- Hoeve, M., Stams, G., Put, C., Dubas, J., Laan, P., & Gerris, J. (2012). A Meta-analysis of Attachment to Parents and Delinquency. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 40(5), 771–785. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-011-9608-1
- Holloway, I., & Todres, L. (2007). Thinking differently: challenges in qualitative research.

 International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Well-Being, 2(1), 12–18.

 http://doi.org/10.1080/17482620701195162.
- Holman, B., & Zeidenberg, J. (2010). The dangers of detention: The impact of incarcerating youth in detention and other secure facilities. *A Justice Policy Research Report*.

 Retrieved from http://www.justicepolicy.org/images/upload/06-

 11 rep_dangersofdetention_jj.pdf.
- Jabareen, Y. (2009). Building a Conceptual Framework: Philosophy, Definitions, and Procedure. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(4), 49–62.
- Johnson, S. B., Pryce, J. M., & Martinovich, Z. (2011). The Role of Therapeutic Mentoring in Enhancing Outcomes for Youth in Foster Care. *Child Welfare*, *90*(5), 51–69.
- Kolar, D. W., & McBride, C. A. (2011). Mentoring At-Risk Youth in Schools: Can Small Doses Make a Big Change? *Mentoring & Company Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 19(2), 125–138. http://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2011.564347.
- Leve, L.D., Fisher, P.A., & Chamberlain. P. (2009). Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care as a Preventive Intervention to Promote Resiliency Among Youth in the Child Welfare System. *Journal of Personality*. 77(6), 1869-1902. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00603.x.

- Martinez, D. J., & Abrams, L. S. (2013). Informal Social Support Among Returning Young
 Offenders A Metasynthesis of the Literature. *International Journal of Offender Therapy*and Comparative Criminology, 57(2), 169–190.
 http://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X11428203
- Massoglia, M., & Uggen, C. (2010). Settling Down and Aging Out: Toward an Interactionist

 Theory of Desistance and the Transition to Adulthood. *American Journal of Sociology*,

 116(2), 543–582.
- McElroy, W. (2004, September 8). Grandparents can't trump parental rights. *Fox News*.

 Retrieved from http://www.foxnews.com/story/2004/09/08/grandparents-cant-trump-parental-rights/.
- McGloin, J. M. (2012). Delinquency Balance and Time Use A Research Note. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 49(1), 109–121. http://doi.org/10.1177/0022427810397947
- Meldrum, R. C., Miller, H. V., & Flexon, J. L. (2013). Susceptibility to Peer Influence, Self-Control, and Delinquency Susceptibility to Peer Influence, Self-Control, and Delinquency. *Sociological Inquiry*, *83*(1), 106–129. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-682x.2012.00434.x
- Michels, T., Albert, I., & Ferring, D. (2011). Emotional Relations With Grandparents and Received Support: The Adolescent View. *Journal of Intergenerational Relationships*, 9(3), 264–280. http://doi.org/10.1080/15350770.2011.593435

- Mueller, M. M., & Elder, G. H. (2003). Family contingencies across the generations:

 Grandparent-grandchild relationships in holistic perspective. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 65(2), 404–417.
- Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC). (2014). *Blueprints for health youth*development. Retrieved from

 http://www.blueprintsprograms.com/evaluationAbstracts.php?pid=632667547e7cd3e046
 6547863e1207a8c0c0c549
- National Institute of Justice Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. (2014).

 Explanations for offending. *Justice Research*. Retrieved from

 https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/243975.pdf.
- Nellis, A. (2009). Back on track: Supporting youth reentry from out-of-home placement.

 *Prepared by the Youth Reentry Task Force of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Coalition. Retrieved from

 http://www.sentencingproject.org/doc/publications/CC youthreentryfall09report.pdf.
- Office of Children and Family Services. (2011). OCFS Fact Sheet: Recidivism among juvenile delinquents and offenders released from residential care in 2008. Retrieved from http://ocfs.ny.gov/main/reports/.
- Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. (n.d.). *Statistical briefing book*. Retrieved from http://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/glossary.html.
- Office of Justice Programs. (2013). *National criminal justice reference services*. Retrieved from https://www.ncjrs.gov/.

- U.S. Department of Justice: Office of Justice Programs, 2016. *OJJDP Statistical Briefing Book*.

 Retrieved from http://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/offenders/qa03105.asp?qaDate=2014.
- Ramchand, R., Morral, A. R., & Becker, K. (2009). Seven-Year Life Outcomes of Adolescent Offenders in Los Angeles. *American Journal of Public Health*, *99*(5), 863–870.
- Rees, C., & Pogarsky, G. (2011a). One Bad Apple May Not Spoil the Whole Bunch: Best Friends and Adolescent Delinquency. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 27(2), 197–223. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10940-010-9103-9
- Rees, C., & Pogarsky, G. (2011b). One Bad Apple May Not Spoil the Whole Bunch: Best Friends and Adolescent Delinquency. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 27(2), 197–223. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10940-010-9103-9.
- Rhoades, K. A., Chamberlain, P., Roberts, R., & Leve, L. D. (2013). MTFC for high-risk adolescent girls: A comparison of outcomes in England and the United States. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, 22(5), 435–449. doi:10.1080/1067828X.2013.788887.
- Rice, J. (1995). Juvenile delinquency: A brief history. *Class Lectures for Sociology 425-Juvenile Delinquency*. Retrieved from http://www.wiu.edu/users/mucdr5/jdhist.htm.
- Santa Ana, E. J., Martino, S., Ball, S. A., Nich, C., Frankforter, T. L., & Carroll, K. M. (2008).

 What is usual about "treatment-as-usual"? Data from two multisite effectiveness trials. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 35(4), 369–379.

 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2008.01.003

- Shaw, D. S., Hyde, L. W., & Brennan, L. M. (2012). Early predictors of boys' antisocial trajectories. *Development and Psychopathology*, *24*(3), 871–88. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1017/S0954579412000429.
- Sheridan, K., Haight, W.L., & Cleeland, L. (2011). The role of grandparents in preventing aggressive and other externalizing behavior problems in children from rural, methamphetamine-involved families. *Children and Youth Services Review, 33*(9), 1583-1591. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.03.023.
- Slobogin, C. (2011). A prevention model of juvenile justice. *Sharing Child and Youth Development Knowledge*, 25(1), 1-28. Retrieved from http://mtfc.com/2011_EB_Interventions for Juv Offenders.pdf.
- Snyder, H.N., & Sickmund, M. (2006). Juvenile offenders and victims: 2006 national report.

 National Center for Juvenile Justice. Retrieved from

 http://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/nr2006/downloads/NR2006.pdf.
- Stambaugh, L. F., Southerland, D., Mustillo, S. A., & Burns, B. J. (2010). Service System

 Involvement and Delinquent Offending at System of Care Entry. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, *37*(3), 307–321. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-009-9179-x.
- Steinberg, L. (2007). Risk taking in adolescence: New perspectives from brain and behavioral science. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 16(2), 52 29. Retrieved from http://fairsentencingofyouth.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/02/Risk-Taking-in-Adolescence.pdf.
- Stelle, C., Fruhauf, C. A., Orel, N., & Landry-Meyer, L. (2010). Grandparenting in the 21st Century: Issues of Diversity in Grandparent–Grandchild Relationships. *Journal of*

- *Gerontological Social Work*, *53*(8), 682–701. http://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2010.516804
- Tamm, A., Kasearu, K., & Tulviste, T. (2014). The role of family in adolescents' peer acceptance. *Personal Relationships*, *21*(3), 420–432. http://doi.org/10.1111/pere.12041.
- TFC Consultants, Inc. (2013). Developing an MTFC program. Retrieved from http://www.mtfc.com/developing-a-program/mtfc-program-implementation/
- TFC Consultants, Inc. (2013). *What is MTFC?* Retrieved from http://www.mtfc.com/what-is-mtfc/program-effectiveness/.
- Tiet, Q. Q., Huizinga, D., & Byrnes, H. F. (2010). Predictors of Resilience Among Inner City Youths. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 19(3), 360–378. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10826-009-9307-5.
- Trout, A. L., Chmelka, M. B., Thompson, R. W., Epstein, M. H., Tyler, P., & Pick, R. (2010).

 The Departure Status of Youth from Residential Group Care: Implications for Aftercare. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 19(1), 67–78.

 http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10826-009-9283-9.
- Turner, W., & Macdonald, G. (2011). Treatment Foster Care for Improving Outcomes in Children and Young People: A Systematic Review. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 21(5), 501–527. http://doi.org/10.1177/1049731511400434.
- Van Etten, D., & Gautam, R. (2012). Custodial Grandparents Raising Grandchildren: Lack of Legal Relationship Is a Barrier for Services. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 38(6),

- 18–22. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3928/00989134-20120509-02.
- Vitulano, M. L., Fite, P. J., & Rathert, J. L. (2010a). Delinquent Peer Influence on Childhood

 Delinquency: The Moderating Effect of Impulsivity. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, *32*(3), 315–322.

 http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10862-009-9160-2.
- Vitulano, M. L., Fite, P. J., & Rathert, J. L. (2010b). Delinquent Peer Influence on Childhood

 Delinquency: The Moderating Effect of Impulsivity. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, *32*(3), 315–322.

 http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10862-009-9160-2.
- Warr, M. (2007). The Tangled Web: Delinquency, Deception, and Parental Attachment. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, *36*(5), 607–622. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-006-9148-0.
- Williams, M. N. (2011). The Changing Roles of Grandparents Raising Grandchildren. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 21(8), 948–962. http://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.588535.
- Yorgason, J. B., Padilla-Walker, L., & Jackson, J. (2011). Nonresidential Grandparents'

 Emotional and Financial Involvement in Relation to Early Adolescent Grandchild

 Outcomes. *Journal of Research on Adolescence (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 21(3), 552–558.

 http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00735.x.
- Zagar, R. J., Grove, W. M., & Busch, K. G. (2013). Delinquency best treatments: how to divert youths from violence while saving lives and detention costs. *Behavioral Sciences & The Law*, 31(3), 381–396. http://doi.org/10.1002/bs1.2062.

Appendix A: Level of Coding

This researcher had the interviews with participants professionally transcribed and read through them several times. In doing so, I was able to develop categories that related to the research questions and code these according to the research questions. During the process of coding, several themes emerged. Use of programs, family conflict as it relates to use of non-custodial grandparents as supports, and manners in which these grandparents are most useful as supports became clear.

Research Questions:

1. What is the value in the grandparent becoming a confidant and problem solver for the youth in

an effort to avoid or decrease antisocial or criminal activities?

2. What action by the grandparent has the professional determined to provide the most support for

parents?

3. In what way does the youth's perception of the grandparent affect their ability to be a positive

resource?

Appendix B: IRB Consent to Collect Data

Confirmation of Receipt of Community Partner Approval - Anita Taboh

9/9/15

IRB <IRB@waldenu.edu>

to me, Scott, Pamela

Dear Ms. Taboh,

This email confirms receipt of the letters of cooperation for Redwood Community Services, Inc., Alexander Youth Network, and Savio House. As such, you are hereby approved to conduct research with these organizations. Please note, if you obtain any additional letters of cooperation, those documents will need to be submitted to and confirmed by the Walden IRB before you may conduct your research with additional sites.

Congratulations!

Libby Munson

Research Ethics Support Specialist, Office of Research Ethics and Compliance

Leilani Endicott

IRB Chair, Walden University

Appendix C: Letters of Invitation to Participate

Date

Dear (Program Supervisor);

It was my pleasure to speak with you recently. As we discussed, I am implementing a study on the use of non-custodial grandparents in treatment and discharge planning when developing treatment and discharge plans for youth identified as juvenile delinquents or Persons In Need of Supervision. The purpose of this study is to complete the dissertation for a Ph.D. in

Human Services, as well as to better understand the use of these individuals in the lives of youth who have come into contact with the juvenile justice system. In order to obtain the appropriate data for this study, I am asking for your assistance in compiling the experiences you and your staff have had in working with these youth and their families.

The title of my study is, "Non-custodial Grandparents as Supports for Juvenile

Delinquent and Persons in Need of Supervision Identified Youth". To obtain the data to complete this study, I would like to interview you and your Individual Therapists and Family Therapists. I am not asking for any information on the youth and their families that would lead to identifying who the family and youth are, but will ask for age, gender, family composition, matriarchal or patriarchal grandparents, and geographic location (urban, rural, or suburban). In addition, I am also not asking to speak with the youth or their families because the study I am conducting is based on the perspective of the professionals working with these families.

During the data collection period, I am asking to interview you and your staff, and then contact each of you at least once more, to check that my perception of the information provided is accurate. I will be happy to provide you with the results of my study when it is completed.

I thank you in advance for your cooperation. If you have any questions about the study, its use or any other issues, please feel free to contact me via phone at 518-526-1205 or email anita.taboh@waldenu.edu. Again, thank you and I look forward to speaking with you again soon.

Anita M Taboh

Appendix D: Interview Questions

- 1. With each youth that is accepted into your program, you develop a treatment and discharge plan. What information do you use to make decisions about the resources you will put in place for the teen?
- 2. Where do you look for resources to use as supports for the youth once they have completed your program and returned home?

- 3. Is the parent or discharge resource consulted about who you bring in as support persons for the youth? How do you consult with them?
- 4. Do you use non-custodial grandparents as supports for the youth, the parent(s), or both?
- 5. For those youth whose grandparents are involved in a non-custodial manner, in your professional opinion, do they function as a resource in the youth's support system? Why or Why not?
- 6. What are the most important elements in the relationship between the youth and grandparent?
- 7. How do the youth with involved grandparents describe their grandparents?
- 8. Do these youth identify any specific action or actions by the grandparent that is important to them? What is/are the action(s)?
- 9. Do these youth identify any action or actions by the grandparent that makes them feel the grandparent is not a support? What is/are the action(s)?
- 10. What action or actions by the grandparent provides the most support to the parent?

Appendix E: Letter of Cooperation from Community Research Partners

Address of participating agencies.

3/8/2015

Dear Anita M Taboh,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled Non-custodial Grandparents as Supports for Juvenile Delinquent and Persons in Need of Supervision Identified Youth within the Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care Programs with

the program staff from our agency. As part of this study, I authorize you to interview program supervisors, individual and family therapists, contact these individuals for the purposes of checking the data collected to ensure that you have correctly understood the information they provide, and make available to them the results of the study when completed. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include providing you as researcher with contact information and ability to schedule appointments with program staff for interview. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely,

Walden University policy on electronic signatures: An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically. Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Electronic signatures are only valid when the signer is either (a) the sender of the email, or (b) copied on the email containing the signed document. Legally an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying marker. Walden University staff verify any electronic signatures that do not originate from a password-protected source (i.e., an email address officially on file with Walden).